
 

 

 

Boston Borough Council 
Joint Chief Executive 

Rob Barlow 
 

Municipal Buildings 
Boston 
Lincolnshire 
PE21 8QR 
Tel: Tel 01205 314226 
Fax: 
 

 
My ref: MG/KR/Planning 27.04.21 
 

Please ask for: Karen Rist, Democratic Services Officer (Direct number Tel 01205 314226) 
 
Monday, 19 April 2021 
 

 

NOTICE OF MEETING OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
Dear Councillor  
 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Planning Committee 
 

on Tuesday, 27 April 2021 at 10.00 am 
 

in the Online Meeting - view the meeting at www.mybostonuk.com/youtube 

 
ROB BARLOW 
Joint Chief Executive 
 
Chairman:  Councillor Tom Ashton 
Vice Chair:  Councillor Alison Austin  
Councillors:  Peter Bedford, David Brown, Paul Goodale, Jonathan Noble, Frank Pickett, 
Brian Rush, Paul Skinner, Yvonne Stevens, Chelcei Trafford, Peter Watson and Judith Welbourn 
 

 

 
Note(s) for Members of the Committee:  

In order to vote on a planning application committee Members must be present for the entire 
presentation and discussion on the item. 
 
When an official site visit is undertaken which forms part of the decision making at Committee, 
only Members who have attended the site visit and received full representation will be able to 
debate and decide the application. 
 
 

 

Members of the public are welcome to view the committee meeting as observers on 

the link above except during the consideration of exempt or confidential items. 

 

This meeting may be subject to being recorded. 
 

 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

AA  GG  EE  NN  DD  AA  
 

PART I - PRELIMINARIES 
 

 

A   APOLOGIES 
 
To receive apologies for absence and notification of substitutes (if any). 
 

 

B   MINUTES 
 
To sign and confirm the minutes of the last meeting. 

 

1 - 14 

C   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
 
To receive declarations of interests in respect of any item on the agenda. 

 

 

D   PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
 
To answer any written questions received from members of the public no 
later than 5 p.m. two clear working days prior to the meeting – for this 
meeting the deadline is 5 p.m. on Thursday 22 April 2021. 

 

 

PART II - AGENDA ITEMS 
 

 

1   PLANNING APPLICATION B 21 0091 
 
Proposed change of use of existing agricultural building to residential 
dwelling 
 
Red House Farm, Langrick Road, Brothertoft, Boston, PE20 3SW 
 
H Robinson & Son, C/O Origin Design Studio 
 

 

15 - 36 

2   PLANNING APPLICATION B 16 0380 CD1 
 
Application for approval of conditions 11 (foul water), 12 (surface water), 
14 (finished floor level), 16 (acoustic bund details), 17 (construction 
management plan) and 18 (geographical survey) attached to planning 
permission B/16/0380 (Outline application for the erection of up to 215 
dwellings with all matters (scale, layout, landscaping, appearance) except 
access reserved with public open space and drainage infrastructure) 
 
Land at Middlegate Road, Frampton, Boston, PE20 1BX 
 
Charlotte Dew, Larkfleet Homes 
 
 
 

37 - 50 



 

 

 

 
3   PLANNING APPLICATION B 19 0040 

 
Residential development consisting of 139 dwellings, including associated 
roads, public open space and drainage infrastructure 
 
Land off London Road, Kirton, Boston, PE20 1JE 
 
Ashwood Homes 

 

51 - 90 

 

Note: A planning decision comes into effect only when the decision notice 
and associated documents are despatched by the Local Planning Authority 
and not when the Committee makes its decision. 

 
 
Notes:  
 
The Human Rights Act 1998 
It is implicit in these reports that the recommendations to and the consideration by Committee will 
take into account the Council’s obligations arising out of the Human Rights Act and the rights 
conferred by Articles 6,8,14 and Article 1 of the First Protocol of the European Convention on 
Human Rights (ECHR).  These are the rights to a fair hearing, respect for family and private life, 
the prohibition against discrimination and the peaceful enjoyment of possessions, respectively.  
The ECHR allows many to be overridden if there is a sufficiently compelling public interest. 
 
In simple terms the Act requires a person’s interest be balanced against the interests of the 
community.  This is something that is part of the planning system and that balancing is a significant 
part of the consideration of issues identified to Committee by officer reports.  Provided that those 
issues are taken into account, the Convention will be satisfied. 
 
 
 
The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Karen Rist, Democratic 
Services Officer, Municipal Buildings, Boston, Lincolnshire, PE21 8QR, Tel 01205 314226, e-mail: 
karen.rist@boston.gov.uk. 
 
Council Members who are not able to attend the meeting should notify Karen Rist, Democratic 
Services Officer as soon as possible giving the name of the Council Member (if any) who will be 
attending the meeting as their substitute. 
 
 
 
Alternative Versions  
Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format such as larger text, Braille or 
a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on direct dial (01205) 314226 
 
 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

9 MARCH 2021 

Present: 
 

 

Chairman: Councillor Tom Ashton 

Vice-Chairman: 
 

Councillor Alison Austin 

Councillors: Peter Bedford, Paul Goodale, Jonathan Noble, Frank Pickett, 
Paul Skinner, Yvonne Stevens, Chelcei Trafford, 
Peter Watson and Judith Welbourn 
 

Officers: Assistant Director - Planning, Planner, Legal Advisor, Legal 
Services Lincolnshire and Senior Democratic Services 
Officer 
 

85   APOLOGIES 
 

There were apologies for absence from Councillor Brian Rush; Councillor Neill Hastie 
was in attendance as his substitute. 
 
86   MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 15 December 2020 were agreed as a correct 
record, to be signed by the Chairman, with the amendment of the end time of the 
meeting to 10.55 am. 
 
87   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

 
Standing declarations of interest were recorded for Members of this Committee who 
were also Members of Lincolnshire County Council; Members of the South East 
Lincolnshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee; and the Council’s Representatives on 
the Internal Drainage Boards. 
 
88   PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

 
None. 
 
89   PLANNING APPLICATION B/20/0338 

 
Siting of 4no. Glamping Pods with associated highways access, car parking & 
wash block 
 
Land Adj. to Olcote, Scrane End North, Freiston, Boston, PE22 0LR 
 

Mr & Mrs A. Drury 
 
The Assistant Director - Planning presented the details of the application, as set out in 
the report. 
 
It was reported that, since the publication of the agenda pack, the following additional 
submission had been received.   

Page 1

Agenda Item B



Planning Committee 
9 March 2021 
 

 Two photographs from the applicant’s agent, which had been circulated to the 
Committee prior to the meeting.   

 Five letters of support, including a further letter from the We’ll Meet Again Museum, 
stating that the proposal would boost visitor numbers, add to the range of 
accommodation and that it would be acceptable in these surroundings.   

 Four further letters from nearby residents, objecting to the application on the grounds 
of the impact of additional people visiting the area, particularly with respect to loss of 
privacy.   

 
The Chairman then invited registered speakers to address the Committee. 
 
Mr P Weaver, a neighbour, spoke in objection to the application, stating that almost all 
local residents were objecting to the application.  Their grounds were the adverse impact 
on wildlife; the felling of trees; noise (particularly with respect to potential anti-social 
behaviour and the impact on mental health of residents in a quiet rural location); loss of 
privacy; litter; and possible trespass.  A back garden was not a suitable location for such 
a proposal. 
 
Mr G Forman, the applicant’s agent addressed the Committee.  The applicant had paid 
for pre-application advice and had received positive feedback from Planning Officers; in 
particular that the proposal satisfied Policy 1 and 9 of the Local Plan in terms of need 
and benefits to the area. Therefore, the Planning Officers’ change of opinion was 
confusing.  The neighbours’ objections were out of proportion to such a small-scale 
proposal.  The applicant had put this environmentally friendly application together with 
care, was passionate about the wildlife and countryside of the area where they had lived 
for many years, and felt it did comply with Policies 1 and 9.  There was no objection from 
Environmental Health and 6-foot high fencing and trees screened the site.  The 
applicant lived on site and so could ‘police’ activity in the unlikely event there was any 
adverse impact.  It would be possible to have 5 touring caravans on the site without 
planning permission, but the applicant did not feel this would be appropriate.  The pods 
were smaller, allowing 2 adults and 1 child, fewer in number, and would be used by bird 
watchers and walkers who wished to visit Freiston Shore and would appreciate the site, 
which had been developed as a micro setting for wildlife. 
 
Councillor Judith Welbourn, the Ward Member, then addressed the meeting and spoke 
in favour of the proposal for two pods.  The proposal would benefit the area; the pods 
would be small and built by a local firm; the site was well screened; there would only be 
two additional vehicles on site; dogs would not be allowed and the applicant worked so 
would discourage noise at night and visitors would be exploring the area in the daytime.  
The applicant was passionate about the area and had done all they could to address 
objections and the proposal would be an asset to the area. 
 
Members then asked questions of the speakers, who answered as follows, in summary. 
 
Mr Weaver confirmed that local residents were concerned about the potential for litter.  
Mr Forman confirmed that the applicant lived immediately adjacent to the proposed site 
and aimed to cater for visitors who enjoyed countryside and nature, and so would not be 
the type to litter the area.   
 

Page 2



Planning Committee 
9 March 2021 

 

The Assistant Director - Planning confirmed that there would be a condition regarding 
seasonal use of the site if the Committee wished to approve the application.  The 
applicant would be able to site five touring caravans within the curtilage of the dwelling, 
in accordance with permitted development requirements, related legislation and 
membership of the Caravan and Camping Club; it was for the Committee to decide what 
weight to give this.  The applicant could control litter on the site and permission could 
include a condition to provide litterbins.  The issue of litter in the wider area was not a 
matter for the Committee.   
 
With respect to waste arrangements, Mr Forman referred to the bin storage area shown 
on the site plan and confirmed the applicant pay commercially for waste to be collected.  
Mr Forman added that there would be less of an impact than if the site operated all year 
round.  Only some small trees and shrubs, possibly on the roadside, would be felled, no 
mature trees.  Trees felled so far had been in the applicant’s back garden.   
 
The Assistant Director - Planning added that trees at the front of the site would need 
felling, but they were not ancient and planning permission would not be required. 
 
[The registered speakers left the meeting at this point.] 
 
During debate, some Members expressed views opposing the proposal and quoted 
Policies 2 and 3. They considered that the road was not adequate for additional usage; 
there was no proven need for the proposal in this location; there was a high number of 
objections from local residents; there would be an adverse impact on neighbouring 
properties in visual terms and noise; and the proposal would be an intrusion into open 
countryside.  Members noted that Caravan and Camping Club membership required 
compliance with rigorous rules.   
 
Councillor Peter Bedford proposed that planning permission be refused, as 
recommended by the Planning Officers, and this was seconded by Councillor Paul 
Skinner.   
 
Other Members spoke in favour of the proposal, feeling that the proposed pods were 
preferable to caravans, and screening would mitigate against noise and visual intrusion.  
There was sympathy with the aims and objectives of the proposal, which would benefit 
the area; therefore, the proposal was in accordance with Policies 1 and 9. 
 
The Chairman proposed that planning permission be granted and Councillor Yvonne 
Stevens seconded the proposal.  However, as this was a direct negative, Members 
voted on the original proposal to refuse planning permission.   
 
Vote: 6 for, 5 against 
 
RESOLVED that planning permission be REFUSED as recommended for the 
following reasons: 
 
Reason 1:  
 
Insufficient evidence has been submitted that demonstrates that the proposed 
development is necessary in this location and/or will provide the sustainable 
development needs of the area in terms of community benefits.  As such the proposed 

Page 3



Planning Committee 
9 March 2021 
 

development is contrary to the objectives of Policy 1 (d) of the South East Lincolnshire 
Local Plan.  
 
Reason 2:  
 
The proposed development will generate significant noise and general disturbance, 
especially during the evenings of the summer months, that will be harmful to residential 
amenity and the quiet and peaceful living conditions of nearby residents in this relatively 
remote location, in particular the occupiers of Roses Cottage, Scrane End which lies 
adjacent to the site. This development is therefore contrary to the objectives of Policies 
2, 3, 9 and 30 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan and paragraph 127 of the NPPF 
(2019) which seeks, amongst other things, to create places which promote health and 
well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users. 
 
90   PLANNING APPLICATION B/20/0432 

 
Erection of a freestanding restaurant with drive-thru facility, car parking, 
landscaping and associated works, including Customer Order Displays (COD), 
Goal Post Height Restrictor and Play Frame 
 
Land to the South of Swineshead Road and East of Wortley's Lane,            
Wyberton, Boston PE21 7JF 
 

McDonald's Restaurants Ltd & Carta Real 
 
The Assistant Director - Planning presented the details of the application, as set out in 
the report. 
 
The Chairman then invited registered speakers to address the Committee. 
 
Mr P Thomas, the applicant’s senior acquisition surveyor, spoke in support of the 
application.  The applicant was committed to involvement in the local community and the 
proposal would bring significant economic benefits to the area including 65 jobs with 
staff training and development.  The company had a range of measures to encourage 
customers to dispose of waste responsibly and staff carried out regular litter patrols.  In 
addition, they were involved with initiatives to help communities tackle litter, such as the 
Big Boston Clean Up.  They had worked closely with Planning Officers to develop the 
proposal.  The access road would be suitable to feed into the proposed Distributor Road 
and the layout, design and parking provision were acceptable.  The transport 
assessment showed that traffic could be accommodated with no significant impact on 
the road network and had satisfied the Highways Authority.   
 
Councillor Richard Austin, the Ward Member, addressed the Committee and explained 
that he had called-in the proposals due to concerns raised by the parish council and 
local residents.   
 
Firstly, the litter generated by drive-through restaurants was a great public concern, 
which the applicant should take steps to reduce.  Secondly, additional traffic on a very 
busy road that had no footpath or cycle way for half a mile and was to be the access to 
large housing estates planned in the future.  The increased traffic would cause tailbacks 

Page 4



Planning Committee 
9 March 2021 

 

on the A52.  Cycle ways depended on developer contributions and Councillor Austin 
urged the Committee to make this a condition of permission.   
 
Members then asked questions of the speakers, who answered as follows, in summary. 
 
Mr Thomas stressed the applicant did not condone littering and continually worked 
actively to address the problem and improve education.  They gave customers as much 
choice as possible to dispose of litter responsibly. They had discussed the idea of 
stamping car registration numbers on packaging, but GDPR regulations had to be taken 
into account and proving a case, particularly when the wind could blow litter around, 
meant it would be difficult to prosecute. 
 
[Members were advised this was not a planning matter.] 
 
Councillor Austin believed that the queuing of traffic at the applicant’s other site in 
Boston had probably been resolved. 
 
The Assistant Director - Planning advised Members that cycle and footway obligations 
had to relate directly to the impact of the proposed application site; in this case, the 
separation distance from that part of the road was too great.  In addition, the report set 
out the Highways Authority’s opinion, which had considered this point and had 
concluded that the proposal was acceptable without the provision of a cycle way or 
footpath.   
 
[The registered speakers left the meeting at this point.] 
 
During debate, the economic benefits of the proposal were welcomed.  It would provide 
65 jobs and a sustainable development with 48 parking spaces on site.  With respect to 
queuing traffic, 22 vehicles would be able to queue on site, which compared well with 
the company’s previous site in Boston.  It was a mixed-use area, the design was 
appropriate and Local Plan Policy 1 was satisfied.  It was recognised that the company 
did its best to address the problem of litter, but the company was not responsible for 
litter once customers had left the site. Consultees were satisfied with the proposal. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Jonathan Noble and seconded by Councillor Paul Skinner 
that planning permission be granted as recommended by the Planning Officers. 
 
Vote: 11 for, 1 abstention 
 
RESOLVED that planning permission be GRANTED as recommended, subject to 
the following conditions and reasons: 

  
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of four 

years from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with 
the application received 03-Nov-2020 and in accordance with the associated plans 
referenced:  

Page 5



Planning Committee 
9 March 2021 
 

 Drawing Number 7489-SA-8675-AL01 B: Site Location Plan; 
 Drawing Number 7489-SA-8675-P102 D: Block Plan; 
 Drawing Number 7489-SA-8675-P104 F: Site Layout Plan As Proposed; 
 Drawing Number 7489-SA-8675-P105 B: Proposed Elevations and 

Section; 
 Drawing Number 17019-VL-McD_L01 Rev B: Landscape Plan; 
 Un-numbered Drawings: Goal Post Height Restrictor and COD/Canopy 

Digital Drive Thru Lane; 
 Un-numbered Drawings: Outdoor Climb 2017 Revision; 
 Un-numbered Drawings: Standard Patio Area Supporting Specifications; 

and 
 Drawing Number D-375612: Proposed Lighting Layout. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the development is undertaken in accordance with the 
approved details, and to comply with Policies 2, 3, 4, 28, 29 and 36 of the South 
East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036. 
 

3. No development and/or clearance of the site shall take place until two further 
surveys have been undertaken to establish whether the site and the ditch to the 
north of the site are utilised by water voles and the results submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The surveys shall take place 
during the optimum period for water voles activity (one between mid-April and June 
and the other between July and September, following water vole survey guidance).  

 
If such a use is established, then no development shall take place until a 
comprehensive method statement indicating how water voles are to be 
safeguarded with appropriate mitigation measures have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
The duly approved method statement shall be implemented in full accordance with 
the details, recommendations and timescales contained therein.  Any mitigation 
measures shall be fully implemented before clearance of any vegetation and 
subsequent development of the site and retained as such thereafter. 

 
Reason: In the interests of protected species, and to accord with Policy 28 of the 
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036. 

 
4. No fixed plant and/or machinery shall come into operation until details of the fixed 

plant and machinery serving the development hereby permitted, and any mitigation 
measures to achieve this condition, are submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. The rating level of the sound emitted from the site shall 
not exceed 45 dBA between 0700 and 2300 hours and 34 dBA at all other times. 
The sound levels shall be determined by measurement or calculation at the 
nearest residential premises. The measurements and assessment shall be made 
according to BS 4142:2014. 

 
Reason: To ensure that noise levels from fixed plant and machinery do not exceed 
the existing background noise climate, in the interest of residential amenities, and 
to comply with Policies 2, 3 and 30 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-
2036. 

 

Page 6



Planning Committee 
9 March 2021 

 

5. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
Flood Risk Assessment dated 15 December 2020 (ref: MD4190159/KLJ/004) and 
the following mitigation measures detailed within it:  
 Finished floor levels to be set no lower than 2.75m AOD; 
 The availability of the upper level plant room platform to act as an 

emergency refuge; and 
 Flood resilience and resistance measures to be incorporated into the 

proposed development as stated. 
 

The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and 
subsequently remain in place.  

 
Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future 
occupants, and to comply with Policy 4 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 
2011-2036. 

 
6. No development shall take place until the implementation of a programme of 

archaeological works in accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) 
which has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The WSI shall cover the following:  

 
1. A phased programme and methodology of site investigation and 

recording to include:  
 an archaeological evaluation; and 

 (where merited by the evaluation results) targeted area excavation and 
monitoring and recording;  

2.  A programme for post investigation assessment to include:  
 analysis of the site investigation records and finds; and 

 production of a final report on the significance of the archaeological and 
historical interest represented; 

3.  Provision for publication and dissemination of the analysis and report on the 
site investigation; 

4.  Provision for archive deposition of the report, finds and records of the site 
investigation; and 

5.  Nomination of a competent person or persons/organisation to undertake the 
works set out within the approved WSI.  

 
Works shall then only be undertaken in accordance with the WSI and any 
associated recommendations therein.  

 
Reason: To record and advance understanding of heritage assets to be lost and to 
make information about the archaeological heritage interest publicly accessible, in 
accordance with Policy 29 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036. 
 

7. Prior to the commencement of any other part of the development hereby permitted, 
full details of the proposed fourth arm of the existing A52/Westbridge Road 
roundabout and the associated access road to service the development shall be 
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The fourth arm 
of the roundabout and the access road shall then be completed in accordance with 
the agreed details prior to the first use of the development.  

Page 7



Planning Committee 
9 March 2021 
 

 
Reason: In the interests of the safety and free passage of those using the adjacent 
public highway and of providing safe and suitable access to the permitted 
development, and to comply with Policy 2 of the South East Lincolnshire Local 
Plan. 

 
8. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

Requirements and Enhancements identified in the Ecological Risk Assessment 
table on pages 4-6 of the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Report (Version 
2/September 2020) with all measures implemented prior to first use of the 
development. 

 
Reason: To ensure the development provides an overall net gain in biodiversity, in 
accordance with Policy 28 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan. 

 
9. If, during development, contamination not previously considered is identified, the 

local planning authority shall be notified immediately and no further work shall be 
carried out until a method statement detailing a scheme for dealing with the 
suspect contamination has been submitted to and agreed in writing with the local 
planning authority. 

 
Reason: To ensure that all contamination within the site is dealt with, and to 
accord with Policy 30 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036. 

 
10. No above ground works shall take place until a scheme for the disposal of foul and 

surface water from the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority, the scheme shall include:  

 
(i) Separate systems for the disposal of foul and surface water; 
(ii) Details of the rate of surface water discharge from the site to any 
soakaway, watercourse or sewer, including provisions to ensure that the post-
development discharge rate does not exceed the pre-development rate 
(incorporating an appropriate allowance for climate change); 
(iii) Details of any necessary flow attenuation measures, including the use of 
SUDS where appropriate; and 
(iv) Details of how the scheme will be maintained and managed after 
completion.  

 
The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the duly approved details 
before the dwelling is first occupied, and shall be maintained and managed as 
such thereafter. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is not at risk of flooding and does not 
increase flood risk elsewhere, and that adequate measures are put in place for the 
disposal of foul and surface water in accordance with the requirements of Policy 2 
and 4 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011- 2036). 

 

Page 8



Planning Committee 
9 March 2021 

 

INFORMATIVES 
 
 Cadent has a 273mm High Pressure gas pipeline close to the edge of the 

development application. It holds a deed of grant for a legal easement on this High 
Pressure gas pipeline and no development is permitted inside the easement without 
Cadent’s written permission. Cadent will need to be approached and liaised with 
before work commences as it may have pipeline protection measures that need to be 
adhered to. 

 The Environment Agency advises that a Flood Warning and Evacuation Plan is 
produced for the development in order to address the residual risks of flooding at the 
site and to confirm the approach that will be taken for safe evacuation of the area.  

 The Environment Agency supports the suggestion in the FRA that future occupants 
sign up to Floodline Warnings Direct to receive advance warning of flooding. This 
can be done online at https://www.gov.uk/sign-up-for-flood-warnings or by phoning 
Floodline Warnings Direct on 0345 988 1188. 

 The Black Sluice Internal Drainage Board indicates that: 
 

Rainfall runoff: 
 The prior written consent of the Board will be required for the proposed 

discharge of surface water from the development into an adjacent 
watercourse (and, where possible, discharges should be limited to 
1.4ltrs/sec/Ha.); 

 It is understood that the development’s proposed drainage system will also 
receive surface water from the adjacent link road, albeit on a temporary 
basis. If this is the case, the applicant must declare the additional 
impermeable area to be drained within any application to the Board; 

 All drainage routes through the site should be maintained both during the 
works and after completion of the works. Provisions should be made to 
ensure that upstream and downstream riparian owners and those areas that 
ae presently served by any drainage routes passing through or adjacent to 
the site are not adversely affected by the development; 

 Consideration must be given to the route downstream of the site from the 
discharge point to an appropriately maintained watercourse. The applicant 
will be expected to carry out off-site works or increased maintenance  
required to safeguard the site discharge for the life of the development, 
including any necessary maintenance to any adjacent piped culverts along 
the route of flow; 

 A permanent undeveloped strip (of sufficient width to allow future 
maintenance work) must be created adjacent to the top of the bank of all 
watercourses bounding the development; 

 
Discharge Outfalls 

 If the proposed surface water discharge outfall is into an adjacent 
watercourse, prior written consent will be required from the Board for any 
structures placed in the bank as per Section 23 of the Land Drainage Act 
1991; 

 
Filling in or Culverting Watercourses 

 The ownership and maintenance of watercourses within the applicant’s land 
registry boundaries  (including any existing piped culverts or other structures 

Page 9



Planning Committee 
9 March 2021 
 

within the confines of the watercourses) lies with the applicant and their 
successors; 

If the applicant intends to install new piped structures within watercourses, the prior 
written consent of the Board is required under Section 23 of the Land Drainage Act 
1991. 
 
91   PLANNING APPLICATION B/20/0427 

 
Advertisement consent for the installation of 1no. Internally illuminated 
Freestanding Totem Sign 
 
Land between Swineshead Road and Wortley's Lane, Boston PE21 7JF 
 
McDonald's Restaurants Limited 
 
The Assistant Director - Planning presented three applications for advertisement 
consent for the site at Wyberton. 
 
Members agreed to consider the applications together, as the proposals were standard.   
 
[They follow separately in the minutes for purposes of clarity.] 
 

It was proposed by Councillor Tom Ashton and seconded by Councillor Alison Austin 
that advertisement consent be granted as recommended by the Planning Officers.   
 
Vote: 11 for, 1 abstention 
 

RESOLVED that Advertisement Consent be GRANTED as recommended, subject 
to the following conditions and reasons: 
 

1. This consent expires after 5 years from the day consent was initially granted. 
 

Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 14 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007. 

 
2. The signage hereby approved by this consent shall be carried out in strict 

accordance with the application received 02-Nov-2020, and with the details shown 
on drawings: 
 Drawing Number 7489-SA-8675-AL02 A (Nov 2020): Site Location Plan 

Adverts; 
 Drawing Number 7489-SA-8675-P122 D (Feb 2019): Site Layout Plan Drive 

Totem; and 
 Job Number 98748A (27/08/2019): Sign 1 – DT2 12m totem. 

 
Reason: To ensure the development is undertaken in accordance with the 
approved details, and to comply with Policies 2, 3 and 29 of the South East 
Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036, and guidance contained in the National 
Planning Policy Framework (February 2019). 

 
3. (i) No advertisement is to be displayed without the permission of the owner of the 

site or any other person with an interest in the site entitled to grant permission. 

Page 10



Planning Committee 
9 March 2021 

 

(ii) No advertisement shall be sited or displayed so as to— 
(a) endanger persons using any highway, railway, waterway, dock, harbour or 
aerodrome (civil or military); 
(b) obscure, or hinder the ready interpretation of, any traffic sign, railway signal 
or aid to navigation by water or air; or 
(c) hinder the operation of any device used for the purpose of security or 
surveillance or for measuring the speed of any vehicle. 

(iii) Any advertisement displayed, and any site used for the display of 
advertisements, shall be maintained in a condition that does not impair the visual 
amenity of the site. 
(iv) Any structure or hoarding erected or used principally for the purpose of 
displaying advertisements shall be maintained in a condition that does not 
endanger the public. 
(v) Where an advertisement is required under this permission to be removed, the 
site shall be left in a condition that does not endanger the public or impair visual 
amenity. 

 
Reason: Standard conditions imposed by the Town and Country Planning (Control of 
Advertisement) Regulations 2007. 
 
92   PLANNING APPLICATION B/20/0428 

 
Advertisement Consent for the installation of: 
6no. Internally Illuminated Fascia Signs 
3no. Internally Illuminated Booth Lettering Signs 
1no. Internally Illuminated Digital Booth Screen 
 
Land between Wortleys Lane and Swineshead Road, Wyberton, Boston   PE21 7JF 
 
McDonald's Restaurants Ltd 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Tom Ashton and seconded by Councillor Alison Austin 
that advertisement consent be granted as recommended by the Planning Officers. 
 
Vote: 11 for, 1 abstention 
 
RESOLVED that Advertisement Consent be GRANTED as recommended, subject 
to the following conditions and reasons: 
 
1. This consent expires after 5 years from the day consent was initially granted. 
 

Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 14 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007. 

 
2. The signage hereby approved by this consent shall be carried out in strict 

accordance with the application received 02-Nov-2020, and with the details shown 
on drawings: 
 

Reason: To ensure the development is undertaken in accordance with the 
approved details, and to comply with Policies 2, 3 and 29 of the South East 

Page 11



Planning Committee 
9 March 2021 
 

Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036, and guidance contained in the National 
Planning Policy Framework (February 2019). 

 
3. (i) No advertisement is to be displayed without the permission of the owner of the 

site or any other person with an interest in the site entitled to grant permission. 
(ii) No advertisement shall be sited or displayed so as to— 

(a) endanger persons using any highway, railway, waterway, dock, 
harbour or aerodrome (civil or military); 
(b) obscure, or hinder the ready interpretation of, any traffic sign, railway 
signal or aid to navigation by water or air; or 
(c) hinder the operation of any device used for the purpose of security or 
surveillance or for measuring the speed of any vehicle. 

(iii) Any advertisement displayed, and any site used for the display of 
advertisements, shall be maintained in a condition that does not impair the visual 
amenity of the site. 
(iv) Any structure or hoarding erected or used principally for the purpose of 
displaying advertisements shall be maintained in a condition that does not 
endanger the public. 
(v) Where an advertisement is required under this permission to be removed, the 
site shall be left in a condition that does not endanger the public or impair visual 
amenity. 

 
Reason: Standard conditions imposed by the Town and Country Planning (Control of 
Advertisement) Regulations 2007. 
 
93   PLANNING APPLICATION B/20/0429 

 
Advertisement Consent for: 
Various Site Signage  
4no. Internally Illuminated Freestanding Signs 
2no. Banner Units 
1no. Play Land Sign 
23.no Dot Signs 
 
Land to the South of Swineshead Road and East of Wortley's Lane, Wyberton, 
Boston PE21 7JF 
 
McDonalds Restaurants Ltd 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Tom Ashton and seconded by Councillor Alison Austin 
that advertisement consent be granted as recommended by the Planning Officers. 
 
Vote: 11 for, 1 abstention 
 
That Advertisement Consent be GRANTED, as recommended by the Planning 
Officers, subject to the following conditions and reasons: 
 
1. This consent expires after 5 years from the day consent was initially granted. 
 
 Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 14 of the Town and Country 

Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007. 

Page 12



Planning Committee 
9 March 2021 

 

 
2. The signage hereby approved by this consent shall be carried out in strict 

accordance with the application received 02-Nov-2020, and with the details 
shown on drawings: 

 Drawing Number 7489-SA-8675-AL02 A (Nov 2020): Site Location Plan 
Adverts; 

 Drawing Number 7489-SA-8675-P108 D (Feb 2019): Site Layout Plan Site 
Signage; 

 Un-numbered Drawing (10 August 2016): ERDDS Banner Unit; 

 Un-numbered Drawing: DOT Signage Accessible Parking Bay; 

 Un-numbered Drawing: Caution – Look Left Traffic Approaching and 
Caution – Look Right Traffic Approaching Signs; 

 Un-numbered Drawing: DOT Signage Give Way; 

 Un-numbered Drawing: DOT Signage Litter Sign; 

 Un-numbered Drawing: Caution Look Both Ways Sign; 

 Un-numbered Drawing: DOT Signage No Entry; 

 Un-numbered Drawing: DOT Signage Parked Order Bay 1; 

 Un-numbered Drawing: DOT Signage Parked Order Bay 2; 

 Un-numbered Drawing: DOT Signage Pedestrian Crossing; 

 Un-numbered Drawing: 10MPH Disc; 

 Un-numbered Drawing: Playland Logo Outdoor Untis (sic) Logo: 1100mm; 

 Un-numbered Drawing: Double Digital Menu Board; and 

 Un-numbered Drawing: Single Digital Menu Board. 
 
 Reason: To ensure the development is undertaken in accordance with the 

approved details, and to comply with Policies 2, 3 and 29 of the South East 
Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036, and guidance contained in the National 
Planning Policy Framework (February 2019). 

 
3. (i) No advertisement is to be displayed without the permission of the owner of the 

site or any other person with an interest in the site entitled to grant permission. 
 (ii) No advertisement shall be sited or displayed so as to— 

(a) endanger persons using any highway, railway, waterway, dock, harbour 
or aerodrome (civil or military); 

(b) obscure, or hinder the ready interpretation of, any traffic sign, railway 
signal or aid to navigation by water or air; or 

(c) hinder the operation of any device used for the purpose of security or 
surveillance or for measuring the speed of any vehicle. 

 (iii) Any advertisement displayed, and any site used for the display of 
advertisements, shall be maintained in a condition that does not impair the visual 
amenity of the site. 

 (iv) Any structure or hoarding erected or used principally for the purpose of 
displaying advertisements shall be maintained in a condition that does not 
endanger the public. 

 (v) Where an advertisement is required under this permission to be removed, the 
site shall be left in a condition that does not endanger the public or impair visual 
amenity. 

 
 Reason: Standard conditions imposed by the Town and Country Planning 
 (Control of Advertisement) Regulations 2007. 

Page 13



Planning Committee 
9 March 2021 
 

 
94   INFRASTRUCTURE FUNDING STATEMENT 

 
The Committee considered a report by the Planning Policy & Section 106 Officer, which 
provided a summary of the Council’s first Infrastructure Funding Statement (IFS). 
 
The IFS had been produced in accordance with the introduction of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2019 and reported on the new Section 106 (S106) 
monitoring fees introduced in December 2020.  It also provided a wider update on 
activities relating to S106 agreements. 
 
The IFS provided details of planning obligations entered into within 2019/20, following 
the adoption of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan, and also detailed the payments 
received for historic agreements where triggers for obligations had been met, S106 
monies currently held by the Council and any spend of S106 monies made within that 
year. 
 
The Council was able to meet the required deadlines for producing and publishing the 
IFS and data files and reporting to the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG).  The Council remained committed to working with the local 
community, developers and stakeholders alike to ensure that planning contributions 
were sought, used appropriately and monitored, to deliver the infrastructure needs and 
requirements arising from development with the borough.   
 
Members welcomed the report and thanked the Planning Policy & Section 106 Officer 
for a solid piece of work.   
 
 
 
 
 

The Meeting ended at 12.40 pm 
 

Page 14



PLANNING APPLICATION B/21/0091

Planning Application:
Proposed change of use of existing agricultural building to residential dwelling

Location:
Red House Farm, Langrick Road, Brothertoft, Boston, PE20 3SW

Applicant:
H Robinson & Son, C/O Origin Design Studio

Page 15

Agenda Item 1



P
age 16



 

 

BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
Planning Committee – 27

th
 April 2021 

 
 

Reference No: B/21/0091  
 

Expiry Date:  05-May-2021 
Extension of Time:  
 

Application Type: Full Planning Permission 
Proposal:  Proposed change of use of existing agricultural building to residential 

dwelling  
Site:   Red House Farm, Langrick Road, Brothertoft, Boston, PE20 3SW 
 
Applicant:  H Robinson & Son, C/O Origin Design Studio 
Agent:   Mr Robert Cole, Origin Design Studio Ltd 
 
Ward:   Swineshead and Holland Fen 
 
Parish:    Brothertoft Parish Council 
  
Case Officer:  Grant Fixter Third Party Reps: 0 
 
Recommendation: REFUSE 

Page 17



 

 

 
 
1.0 Reason for Report 

 
1.1 This application is presented to the Planning Committee at the request of Councillor 

Cornah who considers that since the withdrawal of the previous submission, the 
issues of flooding and the structural condition of the application building have been 
addressed. Further, he identifies that the proposal is in keeping with the area, does 
not constitute back-land development and states that the Parish Council and a 
number of local residents have no concerns.  

 
2.0 Application Site and Proposal 
 
2.1 The application site comprises a parcel of land to the east of Main Road, Brothertoft 

and as per the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan, the site is within the countryside.  
 

2.2 The site hosts an agricultural building which is the subject of this application. The 
agricultural building has reduced in size over the years, in addition to large parts of 
the elevations and roofing now missing.  
 

2.3 The application site is bound by an existing agricultural access to the north, an 
agricultural field to the east and south and a dwelling to the west, beyond which is 
Main Road. The wider character of the area is agricultural and residential 
development is primarily characterised by sporadic frontage development –
predominantly single dwellings, or small clusters/pockets of properties.  
 

2.4 This proposal is for the change of use, extension and alteration of an existing 
agricultural building to form a residential dwelling. The existing building measures 
approximately 2.37m to the eaves and 4.84m to the ridge and comprises a red brick 
build. From what remains of the building, the western wing comprises three storage 
rooms, measuring approximately 15.10m x 5.29m, equating to a floor space of 
approximately 79.88m2.  
 

2.5 The northern section of the build has suffered significant damage, with extensive 
amounts of brick work, roofing and elevations missing and is essentially open, 
however, from the plans this space is approximately 10.2m x 6.75m, equating to 
68.96m2. The Existing Site Plan shows this area to be used for storage, however, 
when attending site it was not being used for storage and instead it was covered with 
what appears to be bits of brickwork and roofing which previously stood.  
 

2.6 From the existing floor plan, albeit the northern extent is open, the combined 
existing floor space is approximately 148.84m2. When considering the area of the 
existing building and partly enclosed courtyard, this increases to approximately 
220.83m2. 
 

2.7 It is proposed to use as much of what remains of the building as possible, with the 
extension comprising cedar cladding. A new access would also be required to serve 
the proposal. Whilst the eaves height remains the same, at the tallest point of the 

Page 18



 

 

proposed extension the ridge will increase in height by approximately half a meter 
and measure 5.32m. 
 

2.8 From the proposed floor plans, the proposed works will mean the building will 
measure 21.52m along the western elevation and 23.64m along the northern 
elevation. There will be a significant increase in floor space to 290.12m2, and when 
considering the build and enclosed courtyard, this increases to approximately 
511.57m2.  
 

2.9 Of the reports submitted with this application, particular regard should be given to 
the Structural Inspection. 

 
3.0 Relevant History 
 
3.1 B/20/0514 – Proposed change of use of existing agricultural building to residential 

dwelling – Withdrawn on 09/02/2021. 
 

3.2 The above submission was withdrawn following discussions between the agent and 
the officer as there were significant concerns around the scheme. These included: 
 
 The principle of development and the failure to comply with the Spatial Strategy  

of the SELLP; 
 The form of development would be out of keeping with the character  of the area 

and form backland development in the countryside; 
 Would be an over-intensification of the site; 
 Could not see how the scheme can be appropriately landscaped to protect 

amenity of the existing dwelling and also respect the character of the area; 
 No Structural Survey was submitted and given the condition of the building this 

was of great concern; 
 Proposal would not comply with Policy 23 of the SELLP; 
 Environment Agency objected on flood risk grounds.  
 

3.3 Prior to withdrawing the application, there were substantial discussions between the 
agent and officer as to how they should proceed, with a Part Q scheme being 
mentioned (agricultural building to residential dwelling) and whether the fall-back 
position could be considered as a material planning consideration as part of the 
original submission to help establish the principle of development. The fall-back 
position is covered and explained later in this report. The officer was of the view that 
based on the submission before them and the condition of the building, the fall-back 
position would not be accepted and the principle of development, therefore, 
remained unacceptable. 
 

4.0 Relevant Policy 
 

South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 
 

4.1 As per the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) (SELLP), the site is located 
outside of any recognised settlement boundary and is deemed to be within the 
countryside. 

Page 19



 

 

 
 
 
 

4.2 The following policies will be relevant to the determination of this application. 
 
Policy 1 – Spatial Strategy 
This policy seeks to focus new development into existing settlements, in particular 
those with a significant service base. It sets out a settlement hierarchy, and identifies 
the types of developments that will be appropriate in each tier of the hierarchy, and 
in the countryside.  
 
Part (d) of Policy 1 of the SELLP will be specifically relevant to this proposal. It states: 
 
D. Countryside 
 
“The rest of the Local Plan area outside the defined settlement boundaries of the Sub- 
Regional Centres, Main Service Centres, Minor Service Centre and Other Service 
Centres and Settlements is designated as Countryside. 
 
In the Countryside development will be permitted that is necessary to such a location 
and/or where it can be demonstrated that it meets the sustainable development 
needs of the area in terms of economic, community or environmental benefits”. 
 
Policy 2: Development Management 
 
Policy 3: Design of New Development 
 
Policy 4: Approach to Flood Risk 
 
Policy 10: Meeting Assessed Housing Requirements 
 
Policy 17: Providing a Mix of Housing 
 
Policy 23: The Reuse of Buildings in the Countryside for Residential Use 
This policy seeks to ensure that only appropriate buildings in the countryside are re-
used for residential purposes, outlining a number of criteria proposals must meet in 
order for development to be permitted: 
 
“1. the building is structurally sound and capable of conversion without the need for 
significant extension, alteration or rebuilding; 
2. the building is of architectural or historic merit or makes a positive contribution to 
the character of the landscape, to justify conversion to ensure retention; 
3. the proposal is in keeping with its surroundings; 
4. the design is sympathetic to the character and appearance of the building in terms 
of architectural detailing and materials of construction; and 
5. development leads to an enhancement of the immediate setting of the building.” 
 
Policy 28: The Natural Environment 

Page 20



 

 

 
Policy 30: Pollution 
 
Policy 31: Climate Change and Renewable and Low Carbon Energy 
 
Policy 36: Vehicle and Cycle Parking 

 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 

4.3 The following sections will be relevant in the determination of this application: 
 
 Section 2: Achieving sustainable development; 
 Section 4: Decision-making; 
 Section 5: Delivering a sufficient supply of homes; 
 Section 11: Making effective use of land; 
 Section 12: Achieving well-designed places; 
 Section 14: Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 

change; 
 Section 15: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment. 

  
4.4 Paragraph 79 of the NPPF is of particular reference which states: 

  
“Planning policies and decisions should avoid the development of isolated homes in 
the countryside unless one or more of the following circumstances apply:  
a) there is an essential need for a rural worker, including those taking majority control 
of a farm business, to live permanently at or near their place of work in the 
countryside;  

b) the development would represent the optimal viable use of a heritage asset or 
would be appropriate enabling development to secure the future of heritage assets;  

c) the development would re-use redundant or disused buildings and enhance its 
immediate setting;  

d) the development would involve the subdivision of an existing residential dwelling; 
or  

e) the design is of exceptional quality, in that it:  

- is truly outstanding or innovative, reflecting the highest standards in architecture, 
and would help to raise standards of design more generally in rural areas; and  

- would significantly enhance its immediate setting, and be sensitive to the defining 
characteristics of the local area.”  
 

5.0 Representations 
 
5.1 As a result of publicity no representations have been received.  
 
6.0 Consultations 
 

Page 21



 

 

6.1 Black Sluice Internal Drainage Board – did not respond.  
 

6.2 Holland Fen with Brothertoft Parish Council – have no objections. 
 

6.3 Environmental Health – have no objections in principle and made the following 
comments: 
 
 Full suite of contaminated land conditions should be attached so that we can be 

assured the land in question is suitable for residential end use or is brought up to a 
suitable standard; 

 Request that where gas fired boilers are to be installed they meet a minimum 
standard of 40mgNOx/kWh; 

 Request that an electric vehicle recharging point be provided. 
 
6.4 Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust – made comments but not for the public record. 

 
6.5 Lincolnshire County Council – have no objections. 

 
6.6 Environment Agency – have no objections and request a condition is attached to any 

permission which ensures the mitigation measures identified in the FRA are 
implemented. 
  

7.0 Planning Issues and Discussions 
 
7.1 The key planning issues in the determination of this application are: 

 
 Principle - Whether this development accords with the objectives of policies 

contained within the SELLP in particular policies 1 and 23; 
 Whether the fall-back position can be considered and afforded weight; 
 Flood risk and drainage; 
 Impact on highway safety; 
 Impact on the character of the area; 
 Impact on residential amenity. 

 
Principle - Whether this development accords with the objectives of policies 
contained within the SELLP in particular policies 1 and 23 
 

7.2 As indicated above, Policy 1 (d) of the SELLP supports certain types of development in 
the countryside where it is necessary to such a location and/or where it can be 
demonstrated that it meets the sustainable development needs of the area in terms 
of economic, community or environmental benefits. Compliance with Policy 1 can be 
achieved by satisfying either the first or second part of this policy. This policy 
provides the overall spatial hierarchy for the Plan, and influences the direction of 
other policies such as Policy 23. 
  

7.3 Policy 23 of the SELLP is arguably the most relevant policy relating to the principle of 
this development, as it deals directly with The Reuse of Buildings in the Countryside 
for Residential Use.  It supports the Reuse of Buildings in the Countryside for 

Page 22



 

 

Residential Use providing they meet a number of criteria – these have been set out 
earlier in this report.  
 

7.4 In this instance, it is deemed appropriate to use Policy 23 as the starting point and 
assess the proposal against each criteria. 
 
Criteria 1 – “the building is structurally sound and capable of conversion without the 
need for significant extension, alteration or rebuilding” 
 

7.5 Unlike the first submission, this proposal is accompanied by a Structural Engineers 
Inspection. It is important to note this does not constitute a full structural survey and 
is solely visual observations from the engineer’s walkover survey.  
  

7.6 Upon review of the submitted Structural Inspection, there are some concerns. 
 

7.7 Firstly, the report states:  
 
“It is observed that the stability and robustness of the roof has been proved as the 
roof has been in place for 130 years.”  
 
Given that there is a large extent of the roof missing and part of it collapsed, the 
above claim is disputed, especially considering the report goes on to say: 
 
“Repair to the northern gable wall will be required where this was damaged when the 
cart shed roof collapsed. It is observed that the collapse was due to the poor condition 
of the roof as a result of rot and infestation of the timbers and through no failure of 
the walls or foundations of the original building.” 
 

7.8 From the above, the exact condition of the roof is disputed, especially as the report is 
slightly contradictory when discussing the roof. The report also references how the 
roof collapsed because of a storm in November 2020. Concerns, therefore, remain on 
the condition of the roof.  
  

7.9 The report concludes: 
 
“The external envelope of the building primarily is robust and, although some areas of 
reconstruction to the walls are necessary, and the roof to the cart shed must be 
reinstated, the building is suitable for conversion.” 
  

7.10 Turning to the second part of criteria 1 which requires there to not be a need for 
significant extension, alteration and rebuilding of the subject building. 
  

7.11 The existing building is shown on the Existing Floor Plans as comprising a single storey 
building, with 3 small storage rooms, an open storage area to the north where the 
brickwork and roofing has since collapsed.  
 

7.12 The proposed building will see a significant extension and comprise a four bedroom 
dwelling. The measurements have been outlined in section 2.0 of this report, 
however, for clarity and direct consideration against criteria 1: 

Page 23



 

 

 

 Existing building  Proposed building Difference  

Rooms  Three storage rooms 
Open storage area 
Partly enclosed 
courtyard 

Within the existing 
footprint: 
Office/ study 
Living room 
WC 
Pantry 
 
Extension and alteration: 
Kitchen/ dining room 
Bathroom  
Utility room 
Three bedrooms  
Garage/ workshop 
Larger enclosed courtyard. 
 

 

Eaves 
height  

Approximately 2.37m 
 

Approximately 2.37m  

Ridge 
height  

Approximately 4.84m 
 

Approximately 5.32m Increase of 
0.48m 

Length of 
western 
wing 

Approximately 15m Approximately 15m  

Length of 
northern 
wing 

Currently no 
brickwork to the 
northern elevation 
and used as an open 
storage space. 
Between the existing 
brickwork the 
measurement is 
approximately 10.2m. 
 

Approximately 23.64m Increase of 
13.44m OR 
increase of 
23.64m as 
there is no 
existing 
brickwork. 

Length of 
eastern 
wing 

0m Approximately 15.08m Increase of 
15.08m 

Internal 
floor space  

Excluding northern 
open storage area:  
Approximately 
79.88m2 
 
Including: 
Approximately 
148.84m2 

 

Approximately 290.12m2 Increase of 
210.24m2 
(excluding 
open 
storage 
area) OR 
141.28m2 
(including) 

Area of the 
build with 

Approximately 
220.83m2 

Approximately 511.57m2 Increase of 
290.74m2 

Page 24



 

 

courtyard 
included 

 
 

7.13 From assessing the current condition of the building, reviewing the proposed plans 
and from the above table, whilst the Structural Inspection states the building can be 
converted, the building will more than double in size. Add this to the need for new 
roofing and work on the existing brickwork it is abundantly clear that there is the 
need for significant extension, alteration and rebuilding works.  
 

7.14 The proposal, therefore, in Officers view, is not “capable of conversion without the 
need for significant extension, alteration or rebuilding” and, therefore, fails to comply 
with criteria 1.  
 
Criteria 2 – “the building is of architectural or historic merit or makes a positive 
contribution to the character of the landscape, to justify conversion to ensure 
retention” 
 

7.15 The Structural Inspection makes reference to the former U shaped footprint of the 
building and that this was in place until 1976, from which point the eastern wing was 
no longer present. No further information on the history of the building was 
submitted. 
  

7.16 The building is of no historic merit as it is neither a Listed Building, nor within a 
Conservation Area. There are, therefore, no historic grounds for its retention. It does 
however sit as an established feature within the surrounding landscape owing to its 
age.  
 

7.17 As previously stated, the building is not in great condition and is in need of significant 
repair, extension and alteration in order for the building to properly function for its 
intended use. The building is, therefore, of no architectural merit and does not 
positively contribute to the character of the landscape to justify its retention. It is 
however acknowledged that the new building could be of better appearance than 
that existing owing to the condition of the existing building, albeit, this is also 
balanced by the increased prominence that would be likely as a result of the scale of 
the proposals. 
 

7.18 The key consideration here is, should the building be demolished and no longer be 
present, will it be of detriment to the character of the landscape? The eastern wing 
of the building has not been in place since 1976, so for some 45 years it was not 
considered important for this part of the building to be reinstated. The building is 
neither listed, nor in a Conservation Area so is of no historic merit and there are no 
historic grounds or reasons which make the retention of the building imperative. 
Finally, significant repair works are needed with the roof collapsing and parts of the 
brickwork missing. The building is not in the best condition and does not add 
anything to the character of the area.  
 

Page 25



 

 

7.19 There are, therefore, no reasons for the buildings retention on both architectural and 
historic grounds and the buildings retention is not imperative to the character of the 
landscape.  
 

7.20 The proposal, therefore, fails to comply with criteria 2. 
 
Criteria 3 - the proposal is in keeping with its surroundings 
 

7.21 The first consideration is the form of development. Residential development in the 
vicinity of the site is particularly sparse, however, primarily consists of frontage 
residential development. This proposal would lead to backland residential 
development situated immediately behind a two storey dwelling. This existing 
dwelling its reflective of the established pattern referred to. The new dwelling would 
be at odds with that spatial character, this weighs against the proposal. 
  

7.22 Secondly, the proposal would require a brand new access off Langrick Road and will 
require significant extensions and alterations to the build itself. Both the new access 
by virtue of its siting and length and the build itself have the potential to further 
erode the character of the area and not be in keeping with its surroundings. The table 
created to assess the proposal against criteria 1 evidently shows the build will more 
than double in scale, meaning its prominence in the landscape and area would be 
significantly increased.  
 

7.23 Finally, the extension will use timber cladding to the external walls, something which 
is not in keeping with the dwelling immediately adjacent to the site and those 
surrounding. So whilst it could be argued the cladding would benefit the design of the 
new dwelling, the officer would argue it is a further indicator that the development is 
out of character.  
 

7.24 For the above reasons, it is argued the proposal does not comply with criteria 3. 
 
Criteria 4 – “the design is sympathetic to the character and appearance of the 
building in terms of architectural detailing and materials of construction” 
 

7.25 This is an expansion of criteria 3 above. The proposal will make use of the existing 
brickwork and tiles where possible, however, as stated above the extension will 
comprise cedar cladding. Both the dwelling immediately adjacent to the application 
building and that on the western side of Langrick Road are of red brick construction.  
  

7.26 There are concerns regarding the timber cladding element of the scheme. 
 

7.27 Turning to the architectural detailing of the building, other than the timber cladding 
element of the scheme there are no further concerns on this front. 
 

7.28 There are, therefore, points for and against the proposal in regards to criteria 4. 
 
Criteria 5 – “development leads to an enhancement of the immediate setting of the 
building”  
 

Page 26



 

 

7.29 Given the current condition of the building you could argue that the proposal would 
enhance the immediate setting of the building. It is important to note, however, the 
enhancement is limited to that of the building and not the wider character of the 
area. 
  

7.30 On the other hand, as previously outlined it could be argued that given the proposed 
works, appearance and scale of the new building there would be negative impacts on 
the immediate setting of the building. 
  

7.31 On balance though, when considering the specific criteria, the proposal complies with 
criteria 5. 
 

7.32 It is important to consider the planning balance. Should the proposal have complied 
with the majority of the criteria outlined, then a more favourable view may have 
been taken.  
 

7.33 In this instance that is not the case. The criteria of this policy are put in place to 
ensure that only appropriate buildings are converted for residential use. Should these 
not be in place there would be a great risk of unacceptable development across the 
countryside. The proposal fails to comply with criteria 1, 2 and 3. There are points for 
and against the proposal in regards to criteria 4, whilst criteria 5 is met.  
 

7.34 On the whole, the proposal fails to comply with policy 23 of the SELLP and as such, 
greater consideration needs to be given to policy 1 of the SELLP. 
 

7.35 The first requirement of policy 1 (d) is that proposals must be ‘necessary’ to their 
location. A covering letter was submitted as part of this submission, however, the 
contents of this were confidential given some of the sensitivity of the information. 
Without going into detail, the justification was specific to personal circumstances, in 
addition to the running of the farm. 
 

7.36 The first point to make is in regards to the running of the farm. Nowhere in the 
submission does it state the proposal is for an agricultural workers dwelling and such 
applications are normally supported by extensive reports and justifications which go 
over the agricultural holding, hours, responsibilities, why the dwelling is needed and 
financial information to assess whether the proposal is of a size commensurate to the 
need. This is required to demonstrate that there is a bona-fide reason for a dwelling. 
As no such information has been provided and nowhere does it state the proposal is 
for an agricultural dwelling, the proposal has been assessed as an open market 
dwelling. The proposal is, therefore, not necessary for the agricultural reasons 
outlined. 
 

7.37 Whilst the personal circumstances are extremely unfortunate, they do not constitute 
a justification as to why the proposal is ‘necessary’ to its location.  
 

7.38 The proposal is, therefore, not necessary to its location and fails to comply with the 
first part of policy 1 (d).   
 

Page 27



 

 

7.39 Turning to the second part of policy 1 (d), the proposal would need to provide 
economic, environmental or community benefits.  
 

7.40 Whilst planting is proposed on site, the planting of 9 native trees and some native 
mixed hedging to the boundaries will not provide extensive environmental benefits. 
In regards to community benefits, the benefits of converting the building will be 
limited to the applicants and no further details on community benefits have been 
provided. Finally, the economic benefits would be extremely limited, as they would 
be restricted to the works needed to convert, extend and alter the building.  
 

7.41 On balance, it is difficult to see and justify how this proposal provides any true 
environmental, community and economic benefits, yet it is fully appreciated the 
extent of benefits can be seen for and against the proposal.  
 

7.42 On balance, it is, therefore, considered the proposal does not comply with Policy 1 of 
the SELLP.  
 

7.43 Given that the proposal fails to comply with both Policy 23 and 1 of the SELLP, both 
of which relate to the principle of development for applications such as this, the 
principle of development is deemed not acceptable.  
 

7.44 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is a material consideration within 
decision-making but does not fundamentally alter the plan-led approach to the 
consideration of application. Paragraph 79 of the NPPF states (bold my emphasis): 
 
 “Planning policies and decisions should avoid the development of isolated homes in 
the countryside unless one or more of the following circumstances apply:  
 
a) there is an essential need for a rural worker, including those taking majority control 
of a farm business, to live permanently at or near their place of work in the 
countryside;  
b) the development would represent the optimal viable use of a heritage asset or 
would be appropriate enabling development to secure the future of heritage assets;  
c) the development would re-use redundant or disused buildings and enhance its 
immediate setting;  
d) the development would involve the subdivision of an existing residential dwelling; 
or  
e) the design is of exceptional quality, in that it:  
- is truly outstanding or innovative, reflecting the highest standards in architecture, 
and would help to raise standards of design more generally in rural areas; and  
- would significantly enhance its immediate setting, and be sensitive to the defining 
characteristics of the local area. 
 

7.45 From the above, point (c) is of most relevance to this application.  
  

7.46 The application building currently comprises three storage rooms. So whilst the 
proposal would be making use of the existing build where possible, significant 
extensions and alterations are needed. Furthermore, it has been discussed in depth 
how it is argued the proposal would not enhance the buildings immediate setting. In 

Page 28



 

 

essence given the extent of alterations and extensions, the proposal is tantamount to 
the creation of a wholly new dwelling, which is in an unsustainable location. Although 
it is not isolated, for the reasons set out earlier in this report, the proposals run 
contrary to the spatial hierarchy as set out in the Local Plan. 
 

7.47 Whilst the NPPF is of course a material planning consideration, an up to date 
Development Plan is always the starting point. The reason policies such as Policy 23 
are included in the SELLP are so they work in unison with the NPPF, where the re-use 
of buildings is promoted but ensuring that only appropriate buildings are re-used and 
the impacts are managed. Should there be no policies such as Policy 23, there would 
be an abundance of unsuitable and unacceptable conversions in the countryside.    
 

7.48 The Councils Local Plan was adopted after the introduction of the NPPF, and there 
are relevant policies which relate to this development contained within the Local 
Plan. Furthermore, the Council can demonstrate a 5-year housing land supply, and 
thus, taken together there are no reasons why full weight cannot be applied to the 
policies of the Development Plan. When considering the requirements set out in the 
Development Plan and NPPF, there are insufficient material considerations to justify 
going against the clear and evident conflict with the Development Plan. 
 
Whether the fall-back position can be considered   
 

7.49 As stated earlier in the report, during the last submission the agent referred to the 
fall-back question and whether this would be accepted as an argument to solidify the 
principle of development argument. To provide clarity to members and in 
anticipation of the Part Q/ fall-back position route being mentioned, below is some 
context on the fall-back position.  
  

7.50 Class Q of  The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015 outlines when agricultural buildings can be converted to 
dwellings as permitted development.  
 

7.51 There is a well-known appeal ‘Mansell v Tonbridge And Malling Borough Council 
[2017] EWCA Civ 1314’ in which the fall-back position was clearly defined.  
 

7.52 In essence this is often used by people seeking permission where they can get 
permitted development approval through Class Q for a barn to a dwelling and use the 
argument that establishes the principle of development on site. They will then turn 
and indicate why a scheme for a dwelling on the site which falls outside of permitted 
development would achieve a better design than that which is approved through the 
Class Q permitted development approval.  
 

7.53 It was established that in order for the fall-back position to be considered, there has 
to be a reasonable prospect that a Class Q approval could be gained. The prospect of 
a Part Q approval is a matter for the decision-makers judgement. Similarly the weight 
attributed to any fallback in the planning balance is a matter for the decision-maker. 
 

7.54 When looking at the application building this proposal relates too, it is extremely 
unclear as to whether a Class Q approval would be achieved. Firstly, what could 

Page 29



 

 

potentially be achieved through Class Q would be of less impact than what is 
proposed with this submission. The existing footprint of the building is considerably 
smaller than what is proposed, so in terms of scale, the proposed is much bigger and 
hard to use the fall-back in this respect. There is also no existing Class Q approval in 
place, further weighing against this argument. 
 

7.55 The main consideration is the condition of the building, with Paragraph: 105 
Reference ID: 13-105-20180615 of the PPG stating (bold is my emphasis): 
 
“However, the right assumes that the agricultural building is capable of functioning 
as a dwelling. The right permits building operations which are reasonably necessary 
to convert the building, which may include those which would affect the external 
appearance of the building and would otherwise require planning permission. This 
includes the installation or replacement of windows, doors, roofs, exterior walls, 
water, drainage, electricity, gas or other services to the extent reasonably necessary 
for the building to function as a dwelling house; and partial demolition to the extent 
reasonably necessary to carry out these building operations. It is not the intention of 
the permitted development right to allow rebuilding work which would go beyond 
what is reasonably necessary for the conversion of the building to residential use. 
Therefore it is only where the existing building is already suitable for conversion to 
residential use that the building would be considered to have the permitted 
development right.” 
 

7.56 As it stands, the building is not capable of functioning as a dwelling, and given the 
current state of the building it is likely that the works needed would go beyond those 
reasonably necessary, resulting in the conclusion that the building is not already 
suitable for conversion. For those reasons, it would be extremely unlikely prior 
approval would be granted through Class Q and when considering this and the other 
reasons outlined, no weight can be given to the fallback position. Therefore no 
weight is attributed to the potential fallback in this instance. 
  
Flood risk and drainage  
 

7.57 Policy 4 of the SELLP state a proposed development within an area of flood risk 
(Flood Zones 2 and 3) will be permitted where it can be demonstrated that there are 
no other sites available at a lower risk of flooding, the proposed works are essential 
infrastructure, and appropriate flood mitigation measures have been put in place. 
Development within all flood zones (and development larger than 1 hectare in Flood 
Zone 1) will need to demonstrate that surface water from the development can be 
managed whilst not increasing the risk of flooding to third parties. 
  

7.58 The application site is within Flood Zone 3 and is accompanied by a Flood Risk 
Assessment. The Hazard Mapping shows the site to have flood levels between 0.5-1m 
with a hazard rating of Danger for Most. The FRA states that whilst the site is within 
Flood Zone 3 and would be changing to ‘more vulnerable’ use and such 
developments need to be satisfy the sequential and exception test, as the proposal 
relates to conversion, a sequential test is not needed in this instance.  
 

Page 30



 

 

7.59 In regards to the absence of a sequential test, whilst the proposal relates to 
conversion, it has been demonstrated that the conversion of the building does not 
comply with policy, in particular Policy 23. Should the proposal have complied with all 
the criteria then we would agree with the stance set out in the FRA regarding no 
sequential test being needed, however, as the proposal is not policy compliant, 
insufficient information has been provided to show how the sequential test is not 
needed or indeed passed. 
 

7.60 The next consideration is the exception test which is outlined in Paragraph 160 of the 
NPPF and to pass the exception test it should be demonstrated that: 

 
“(a) the development would provide wider sustainability benefits to the community 
that outweigh the flood risk; and 
(b) the development will be safe for its lifetime taking account of the vulnerability of 
its users, without increasing flood risk elsewhere, and, where possible, will reduce 
flood risk overall.”  

 
7.61 Paragraph 161 of the NPPF states:   

  
“Both elements of the exception test should be satisfied for development to be 
allocated or permitted.” 

 
7.62 Whilst it has been proved the proposal does not comply with part (a), as it is 

proposed the finished floor level will be raised by 0.8m above existing ground level 
and the EA have confirmed this is acceptable. The proposal, therefore, satisfies part 
(b) of the exception test.   
  

7.63 From the above, we are of the view that insufficient information has been provided 
to show the sequential test has been passed as the principle of the conversion has 
been deemed unacceptable, and the proposal only complies with part of the 
exception test. This weighs against the proposal. 
 

7.64 Regarding drainage, from the Proposed Site Plan shows connection to a package 
treatment plan outside the red line and a surface water manhole which has an outlet 
to the riparian drain to the north. 

 
Impact on highway safety  
 

7.65 Policy 36: Appendix 6 of the SELLP relates to parking standards. It requires 2 spaces 
for dwellings with up to 3 bedrooms and 3 spaces for dwellings with 4 or more 
bedrooms. It also requires 1 cycle space within each residential plot. 
 

7.66 The plans show the dwelling will be no more than 3 bedrooms, meaning 2 parking 
spaces will be needed per dwelling to comply with the parking requirements outlined 
in Policy 36: Appendix 6. The proposed site plan shows how two spaces per dwelling 
can be accommodated on site. It is also shown on the plans how turning can be 
accommodated within the site to ensure vehicles can both enter and leave the site in 
a forward gear. 
 

Page 31



 

 

7.67 A new access will be needed off Langrick Road, with Lincolnshire County Council 
confirming they have no issues with the proposed access in terms of highway safety. 
 

7.68 As the parking provision on site would be policy compliant and Highways have no 
issues with the proposed access, the proposal is deemed acceptable on parking and 
highway safety grounds.  
 
Impact on the character of the area  
 

7.69 Policy 2 of the SELLP states that proposals requiring planning permission will be 
permitted provided that sustainable development considerations are met. These 
include size, scale, layout, density and impact on the amenity, trees, character and 
appearance of the area as well as the quality of its design and orientation. 
  

7.70 Policy 3 of the SELLP states all development must create a sense of place by 
respecting the density, scale, visual closure, landmarks, views, massing of 
neighbouring buildings and the surrounding area. 
 

7.71 This section of the report is an extension on matters already considered and outlined 
above, specifically dealing with these policies. 
 

7.72 As previously stated, the building is in poor condition which parts of the elevation 
and roofing missing. Furthermore, the eastern wing which formed part of the former 
footprint has not been in place for some 45 years.  
  

7.73 When assessing the impact on the character of the area for this proposal, there are 
two ways of approaching this. Firstly, the appearance of development and secondly, 
the form of development. 
 

7.74 Starting with the appearance of the development, on the one hand there is the 
argument the proposal will re-introduce a similar footprint to what was present some 
45 years ago. Furthermore, it could be argued that given the appearance of the 
building, any works would actually enhance its appearance. Obviously, this cannot be 
the sole consideration else there would be an abundance of buildings not suitable for 
residential use being converted.  
 

7.75 That being said, there are concerns regarding the cladding aspect of the build and 
how this is not in keeping with the red brick builds immediately adjacent to the site 
and immediately on the opposite side of Langrick Road. This will be particularly 
noticeable when travelling south along Langrick Road, as the north elevation is to be 
significantly extended and will extensively comprise cladding. Furthermore, the need 
for a new access will further exacerbate the development on site in regards to the 
wide, open, rural nature of the site. Whilst efforts have been made, it is hard to see 
how a dwelling in this location would assimilate effectively into the rural nature of 
the area, especially given the building is more than doubling in size. 
 

7.76 Turning to the form of development, granting approval would lead to backland 
residential development in the countryside, something which should be avoided and 
weighs against the proposal. Residential development in the vicinity of the site is 

Page 32



 

 

primarily sporadic frontage development, something which this proposal is not. 
Furthermore, given the close proximity between the adjacent dwelling and the 
application building, a further residential use on site will also lead to an over-
intensification of the site. This will be further evident by the apparent domestication 
that will occur as a result of typical residential use of the site. 
 

7.77 It is completely appreciated this is a very balanced approach, however, in this 
instance when taking everything into account, the scale of the build, the proposed 
materials, the need for a new access and how this will lead to backland residential 
development in the countryside, it is deemed the proposal will have an unacceptable 
impact on the character of the area. 
 
Impact on residential amenity   
 

7.78 SELLP Policy 2 and 3 seek to ensure that a new development does not significantly 
impact neighbouring land uses by reason of noise, odour, disturbance or visual 
intrusion. 
  

7.79 Policy 30 of the SELLP states development will not be permitted where there would 
be unacceptable impacts on the amenities of the area, health and safety of the public 
and the natural, historic and built environment. 
 

7.80 When considering amenity, it is important to assess both neighbouring amenity and 
future occupier’s amenity.  
 

7.81 Firstly, the amenity of the future occupiers is to be considered. From the proposed 
plans there is ample private amenity space and albeit there is a two storey dwelling 
immediately adjacent, the scheme has been designed in a way which helps protect 
amenity. 
 

7.82 Turning to the amenity of the adjacent dwelling, the proposal has no fenestration on 
the western elevation which avoids the chance of a loss of privacy via eliminating the 
chance of uninterrupted views into windows serving habitable rooms. The vehicle 
movements generated from one dwelling will also not lead to a loss of amenity. The 
only concern around amenity is that as the red line is right up against the red line, no 
appropriate boundary treatments can be proposed between the two buildings. 
 

7.83 Whilst there are concerns regarding amenity in relation to Policy 30 of the SELLP, on 
balance it is argued the proposal complies with Policies 2 and 3 in respect of amenity.  
 
Planning balance  
 

7.84 With applications such as this, it is imperative to consider the planning balance as 
there are factors both for and against the application. 
  

7.85 Firstly, there are no concerns on flood risk grounds, as the FRA accompanying the 
application outlines how the proposal can be safe from flooding, with the EA not 
objecting subject to a condition securing mitigation measures. There are also no 
concerns on parking and highway safety grounds, as policy compliant scheme can be 

Page 33



 

 

delivered in respect of parking and Highways have no objections. It has also been 
deemed that on balance, the proposal will not be detrimental on amenity grounds. 
 

7.86 Turning to points against the proposal, the first is the character of the area. Whilst it 
could be argued the redevelopment of the building will enhance its appearance, the 
proposal involves a significant extension (more than double of that existing) to a 
building in poor condition. The need for a new access will further exacerbate the 
development and further detract from the character of the area. There are concerns 
regarding the proposed use of cladding and this will be particularly noticeable on the 
north elevation which is clear to see when travelling south along Langrick Road. 
Finally, the conversion to a dwelling would lead to backland residential development 
which is not common in the area. Such a change of use would also lead to an over-
intensification of the site. 
 

7.87 Insufficient information has been submitted to demonstrate the proposal passes the 
sequential and exception test on flood risk grounds, which weighs against the 
proposal. 
 

7.88 The Structural Inspection accompanying the submission is of concern as it is 
contradictory when discussing the condition of a roof. The report states:  
 
“It is observed that the stability and robustness of the roof has been proved as the 
roof has been in place for 130 years.”  

 
7.89 The report then goes on to say the roof collapsed due to its poor condition as a result 

of rot and infestation, in addition to collapsing in November 2020 as a result of a 
storm. Considering this and the visual condition of the roof, it is hard to see how the 
roof has proved its stability and robustness. 
 

7.90 The principle of development has to be acceptable and for applications such as this 
the starting point is Policy 23 of the SELLP. It has been clearly demonstrated the 
proposal fails to comply with parts 1-3 of the policy, a balanced view could be needed 
for part for, whilst part 5 is the only part of the policy the proposal complies with. On 
the whole and on balance, the proposal does not comply with Policy 23 of the SELLP. 
 

7.91 It was then established that the proposal would also fail to comply with Policy 1 of 
the SELLP, as it was not necessary to its location and there would be no significant 
community, environmental or economic benefits relating to the sustainable 
development needs of the area.    
 

7.92 Failure to comply with Policies 1 and 23 of the SELLP mean the principle of 
development is not acceptable.  
 

7.93 Whilst the paragraph 79 of the NPPF relates to rural housing, it has been clearly 
demonstrated there are insufficient material considerations to justify going against 
the clear and evident conflict with the Development Plan. Policy 23 is in place to work 
in unison with the NPPF and ensure only appropriate sites and buildings are 
developed.  
 

Page 34



 

 

7.94 Finally, it was confirmed the fall-back position would not be applicable in this 
application and cannot be given any weight. 
 

7.95 The proposal, therefore, does not comply with local and national policy and does not 
meet the sustainable development considerations. It is also worth noting as of the 
31st March 2020, the Council could demonstrate a 5.2 year housing land supply, 
therefore, the policies can be given full weight when considering the proposal.   
 

8.0 Summary and Conclusion 
 
8.1 It is considered the proposal does not comply with Policy 23 of the SELLP, in addition 

to insufficient evidence demonstrating the proposal is necessary to its location or 
that it will meet the sustainable development needs in the area, in terms of 
economic, community and environmental benefit in accordance with Policy 1(d). 
Furthermore, it is considered the change of use of the building to form a dwelling 
would lead to an over-intensification of the site, constitute backland development 
and there are concerns regarding the proposed materials.  
 

8.2 The proposal is, therefore, contrary to the objectives of Policies 1, 2, 3 and 23 of the 
SELLP. 
 

9.0 Recommendation 
 

9.1 It is recommended that Committee REFUSE this application for the following reasons:  
 
Reason 1: 
 
The application fails to demonstrate how the proposals would meet the requirements of 
policy 23 of the Local Plan. The application fails to fully establish whether the building is 
structurally sound, and capable of conversion without needing significant extension, 
alteration and rebuilding. There is no justification for its retention to positively contribute to 
the character of the landscape or in historic terms, and the resultant scheme is considered 
to be out of keeping with its surroundings by virtue of its siting, scale and proposed 
materials. The site is in an unsustainable, countryside location and there is no overriding or 
robust justification for an additional dwelling in this location where the criteria of policy 23 
are not met. Therefore, the development would lead to an unacceptable and unsustainable 
conversion, within the countryside, contrary to the spatial objectives of the Local Plan, and 
contrary to the criteria set out in Policy 1 and 23 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 
(2011-2036). The proposals would result in an unsustainable form of development, contrary 
to Sections 2 and 5 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 
 
Reason 2: 
 
The proposed development by virtue of its siting, scale and materials, would detract from 
the character and appearance of the area, creating an over-intensive, prominent, and 
unsympathetic form of development, which would be contrary to the established spatial and 
visual characteristics of the area. As such, the proposal, therefore, fails to accord with 
Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) and Section 12 
‘Achieving Well-designed Places’ of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 

Page 35



 

 

 
Reason 3: 
 
Insufficient information has been provided to demonstrate how the sequential and 
exceptions tests relating to Flood Risk have been passed, as whilst the proposal is for the 
conversion of a building, the principle of said conversion has been proven to be 
unacceptable, whilst only part of the exception test has been satisfied. The proposal, 
therefore, fails to accord with Policy 2 (part  7), Policy 4 (part 1), and Policy 31 (part 2) of the 
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) and Section 14 ‘Meeting the challenge of 
climate change, flooding and coastal change’ of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2019). 
 
 
 

Page 36



PLANNING APPLICATION B/16/0380/CD1

Planning Application:
Application for approval of conditions 11 (foul water), 12 (surface water), 14
(finished floor level),  16 (acoustic bund details), 17 (construction management
plan) and 18 (geographical survey) attached to planning permission B/16/0380
(Outline application for the erection of up to 215 dwellings with all matters (scale,
layout, landscaping, appearance) except access reserved with public open
space and drainage infrastructure)

Location:
Land at Middlegate Road, Frampton, Boston, PE20 1BX

Applicant:
Charlotte Dew, Larkfleet Homes

Page 37

Agenda Item 2



P
age 38



 

 

BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
Planning Committee – 27th April 2021 

 

 
Reference No: B/16/0380/CD1 
  
Expiry Date:                   09th July 2020 
Extension of Time: To be confirmed 
  
Application Type: Condition Discharge 
Proposal: Application for approval of conditions 11 (foul water), 12 (surface 

water), 14 (finished floor level), 16 (acoustic bund details), 17 
(construction management plan) and 18 (geographical survey) 
attached to planning permission B/16/0380 (Outline application for 
the erection of up to 215 dwellings with all matters (scale, layout, 
landscaping, appearance) except access reserved with public open 
space and drainage infrastructure)  

  
Site:  Land at Middlegate Road, Frampton, Boston, PE20 1BX 
  
Applicant: Larkfleet Homes 
Agent:  --- 
  

 

Ward:                             Kirton & Frampton 
  

Parish: Frampton 

Case Officer:                 Richard Byrne  Third Party Reps: 4 
 

  Recommendation:     Details agreed for conditions 11 & 12 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



 

 

 
 
1.0 Reason for Report 

 
1.1  Ordinarily an application to discharge planning conditions would not be presented to 

Planning committee as it relates to the detailed matters which follow post-decision.   
 
1.2 However, in resolving to grant permission to the reserved matters application which 

was approved on 15 November 2018, Members requested that the drainage 
conditions were brought back to Planning Committee once the final solutions were 
defined. This was on the basis of concerns regarding the drainage of the site and the 
implications to the immediate area which were raised at that time. 

 
1.3 To that end, these conditions are reported back to the Planning Committee in 

accordance with the earlier resolution. 
 
1.4 Members will note that the overall condition compliance for this site is in two parts, 

the first relating to conditions attached to the Outline, and the second relating to 
conditions attached to the Reserved Matters, these are subject to separate condition 
discharge request as set out later in this report. Furthermore, each request seeks to 
cover a number of conditions. However, it is only those conditions which relate to 
drainage (as set out in the report) which are the subject of the Planning Committee’s 
consideration. 

 
1.5 The Planning Committee are recommended to support the views of Officers on the 

drainage information, and that conditions 11 & 12 of B/16/0380 may be agreed. All 
other conditions remain under consideration by Officers. 

 
2.0 Application Site and Proposal 
 
2.1 The application site currently consists of approximately 10ha (25acres) of relatively 

flat agricultural land site located off Middlegate Road West. The site lies outside the 
northern  settlement  boundary  of  Kirton  in  open  countryside  and  it  is  within  
the Parish Boundary of Frampton. The site is bordered on its eastern flank by the 
A16, which presently provides relatively open views across the development site.  
The western boundary of the site is framed by London Road and also the rear garden 
of 8 Middlegate Road West. The northern edge of the site leads to a boundary shared 
with existing agricultural fields which would be retained.  Along  the  south  western 
perimeter the rear gardens of dwellings consist predominantly of bungalows fronting 
along  14  -  40  (evens)  Middlegate  Road West,  face  towards  application  site.  The 
frontage  along  the  Middlegate  Road West  which  bounds  the  application  
contains trees protected by a Tree Preservation Order; a number of these trees have 
been removed due to their condition.   

 
2.2 An application has been submitted to apply for the discharge of a number of planning 

conditions which were attached to the outline consent. The outline having been 
granted at Appeal but the Inspector.  They are: (drainage conditions in bold) 

 
   Condition 11 (foul water) 

Page 40



 

 

   Condition 12 (surface water) 
   Condition 14 (finished floor level) 
   Condition 16 (acoustic bund details) 
   Condition 17 (construction management plan)  
   Condition 18 (geographical survey) 

 
2.3 Condition No. 11 reads as follows: 
 

Prior to development commencing a scheme of foul water drainage provision which 
may include a new direct sewer to Frampton WRC including the timeframe for 
implementation, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
scheme. 

 
2.4 Condition No. 12 reads as follows: 
 

No development shall take place until a surface water drainage scheme, based on 
sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological and 
hydrogeological context of the development has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall:  

 
i) provide details of how run-off will be safely conveyed and attenuated during storms 

up to and including the 1 in 100 year critical storm event, with an allowance for 
climate change from all hard surfaced areas within the development into the existing 
local drainage infrastructure and watercourse system without exceeding the run – off 
rate for the undeveloped site and to specifically demonstrate how existing properties 
will be protected from above ground run-off as a result of raised land levels.  

ii) provide attenuation details and discharge rates which unless otherwise agreed with 
the surface water receiving body, shall be restricted to 1.4 litres per second per 
hectare.  

iii) provide details of the timetable for and phasing of the implementation of the 
drainage scheme; and   

iv) provide details of how the scheme shall be maintained and managed over the 
lifetime of the development which shall include the arrangements for adoption by 
any public authority or statutory undertaker and any other arrangements to secure 
the operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime. 

 
2.5 It is important to note some of the comments of the Inspector which were set out in 

paragraphs 52-56 of their decision, which relate to drainage: 
  

 Awareness of flooding events in the recent past and that is why this matter is of 
particular concern to local residents.  Noting a Flood Risk Assessment was 
submitted which included a drainage strategy.   

 In terms of foul water I am advised that there is capacity for the treatment of 
wastewater at the Frampton Waste Recycling Centre but that there is no 
capacity in the local sewer network to take wastewater from the appeal site. 
Either the existing sewers would need to be upgraded or a separate direct 
connection to the Recycling Centre would be required.    

Page 41



 

 

 Surface water, it is proposed that this be dealt with through a system of swales 
and ponds which would be designed in accordance with sustainable drainage 
principles.  The ponds would accommodate a 1 in 100 year flood with an 
allowance of 40% for climate change.  This would be a sealed system connecting 
to the nearby watercourse and regulated to flow at the existing green field run 
off rate.  There would be no connection to Middlegate Road West.   

 The Inspector was satisfied that appropriate foul and surface water drainage 
provision can be made.   

 
2.6 The application has been supported by plans and documents relating to the relevant 

planning condition for consideration.  The drainage plans have been subject to 
consultation and discussion with the relevant lead authorities, namely the Internal 
Drainage Board (IDB) namely Black Sluice, Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) which is 
Lincolnshire County Council, and Anglian Water. The plans have been revised during 
the application process to take account of comments received by these bodies. 

 
2.7 At this point it is important to highlight that in seeking approval for drainage matters, 

there are a number of non-planning technical consents which are required by the 
various statutory undertakers as highlighted above. Some of these have crossover 
with the content of planning conditions, and some of which go far beyond the 
planning remit. Members should be assured that regardless of the need to comply 
with the planning conditions, the developer would be required to comply with the 
requirements of those statutory undertakers and their associated legislation. 
Therefore there are many layers of legislation and technical detail, which collectively 
seek to ensure that an appropriate form of drainage is provided to serve the 
development, without exacerbating or worsening pre-existing local issues. 

 
2.8 There are other plans and documents which accompany the application, however, 

they relate to other planning conditions which are not subject of this report. Those 
matters have and continue to be separately assessed by Officers through typical 
condition discharge processes. In responding to the discharge requests, the options 
available are: deem them acceptable/unacceptable in full or in part; or seek 
additional information. Officers continue to work with the developer to ensure that 
conditions are agreed promptly where possible. 

 
3.0 Relevant History 
 
3.1 B/18/0039/CD1 - Application for approval of conditions 2(Landscaping buffer), 3(Play 

equipment), 4(Pump station), 5(garages elevations), 7(soft landscaping) and 
8(Management plan) attached to planning permission B/18/0039 (Approval of 
reserved matters (scale, layout, landscaping and appearance) following outline 
approval B/16/0380 (Erection of up to 195 dwellings including access off Middlegate 
Road West, public open space and drainage infrastructure).  Currently pending. 

 
3.2 B/18/0039/NMA - Application for a non-material amendment to alter the parking 

area serving plots 102 - 109 and to change the affordable housing units from plots 92 
- 95 to plots 106 - 109 of condition 1 of planning permission B/18/0039.  Granted 22 
December 2020. 

 

Page 42



 

 

3.3 B/18/0039 - Approval of reserved matters (scale, layout, landscaping and 
appearance) following outline approval B/16/0380 (Erection of up to 195 dwellings 
including access off Middlegate Road West, public open space and drainage 
infrastructure).  Granted 15 November 2018. 

 
3.4 B/16/0380 – Outline application for the erection of up to 215 dwellings with all 

matters (scale, layout, landscaping, and appearance) except access reserved with 
public open space and drainage infrastructure.  Refused on 12 January 2017 
however, an appeal was subsequently lodged with the Planning Inspectorate and on 
25 October 2017: 

 
“…the appeal was allowed and outline planning permission was granted for the 
erection of up to 195 dwellings including access off Middlegate Road West, public 
open space and drainage infrastructure on land at Middlegate Road West, Frampton, 
Boston PE20 1BX in accordance with the terms of the application, Ref B/16/0380, 
dated 29 September 2016, subject to the conditions in the attached Schedule…” 
 

4.0 Relevant Policy 
 
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 
 
4.1 The following policies will be relevant in the resolution for Condition 12: 
 

Policy 2: Development Management 
This policy seeks to ensure that all new development will be sustainable. It sets out 
nine particular sustainable development considerations against which planning 
applications will be judged. 

 
Policy 3: Design of New Development 
This policy seeks to ensure that all new development will make a positive 
contribution to the character and quality of its surroundings. It sets out fifteen 
particular design issues against which planning applications will be judged. 

 
Policy 4: Approach to Flood Risk 
This policy seeks to ensure that new development is not unnecessarily exposed to 
flood risk, and does not increase flood risk elsewhere. It identifies the process by 
which planning applications in Flood Zones 2 and 3 will be considered, and sets out 
particular requirements for applications to change the use of buildings, and for 
caravans, mobile homes, etc. 
 

5.0 Representations 
 
5.1 The application for the discharge of planning conditions is not normally advertised in 

the same manner as a planning application.  Although the application will be on the 
Council’s website a third party can view the information and if they wish to submit a 
representation.  The content, if relevant to the nature of the condition will be 
considered together with the input from a consultee who will be an expert in the 
matter being considered.  In this instance representations have been received from 
the occupiers of the following properties: 

Page 43



 

 

 
 The Croft, Middlegate Road East, Frampton 
 25 Middlegate Road, Frampton 
 26 Middlegate Road West, Frampton 
 3 Lighton Avenue, Frampton 

 
5.2 The objections and comments on the basis of the original submitted plans, 

documents and information. They raise a number of points, however, only those 
relevant to drainage are considered here, they are summarised as follows: 

 
 Condition 12 set out by the inspector is not satisfied as yet. The inspector made it 

clear that the applicant must provide details of how run off from storms including 
a 1 in 100 event. As we already experience flood from normal weather pattern. It 
hasn’t been made clear how the applicant is going to protect us from the slope 
down from the new properties let alone a 1 in 100 event.  The details are very 
limited (potential) and do not satisfy the condition set. 

 7343-L-04A cross section 1 - The new properties which will back onto the existing 
Middlegate bungalows are having their ground level raised by 1.25m with the 
gardens sloping down to the bungalow gardens.  There appears to be no 
watercourse at the bottom of the new gardens for the water falling on the raised 
ground to drain into. There is already a problem with standing water in the back 
gardens of the bungalows, so to have extra water running off the new properties 
is not acceptable. 

 There does not appear to be a scheme for getting excess surface water from the 
western side of the site to retention ponds at all and no provision to stop surface 
water from simply running down the entry roads and the footpath (opposite our 
house). Water runs to the lowest point - Middlegate Road. Swales at the sides will 
not stop gravity during normal rain storms, let alone the required 1 in 100 year 
event. Their own original geological report made a point of stating that the 
absorption properties of this land made soakaways very poor. 

 
6.0 Consultations 
 
6.1 Anglian Water have confirmed that the foul drainage strategy is acceptable to 

Anglian Water and that they recommend discharge of the condition. Anglian water 
advise that as the surface water strategy does not involve discharge to their assets 
they have no comments to make on the surface water scheme. 

 
6.2 Black Sluice IDB have provided 2 sets of comments, their most recent comment 

follows dialogue with the developers to address initial concerns, the comments are 
summarised as: 

 
 Surface Water scheme – there are no particular concerns, however, formal 

discharge consents to their watercourses will be required. This will be via 
separate agreement with the Board. 

 Proposals for surface water on the southern and western boundaries need to 
ensure that a filter drain as recommended by the consultants is installed, and 
that the flows do not discharge to the riparian watercourse to the north-west. 

Page 44



 

 

 The design of the headwalls for outfalls are unlikely to secure consent from the 
board and may need to be redesigned 

 The new highway culvert will require more clarification and details to secure IDB 
approval. 

 Applications under S23 of the Land Drainage Act 1991 will be required. 
 

6.3 Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) have provided interim comments. They have 
advised that they are still considering the details through the S38 (Highway adoption) 
process having been in dialogue with the developer for many months. They advise 
they are not in a position to recommend formal discharge until that process is 
complete, however, in principle, they have no objections subject to the 
demonstration of technical compliance and satisfactory outcomes on outstanding 
matters. In addition, they have highlighted: 

 
 The highway drainage enters into an AW system before discharging to the IDB 

drain. A Section 104 Agreement from AW or the consent to discharge from the 
IDB is required - but should this be forthcoming then in principle there shouldn't 
be any showstoppers for the highway drainage element – any changes required 
should be minor in nature and not prohibit the discharge of condition.  

 If Anglian Water and the IDB have recommended approval of the surface water 
drainage condition then we assume there are no fundamental concerns with the 
drainage strategy which would prohibit the respective S104/ consent to discharge 
which the highway drainage relies upon.  

 LLFA drainage engineer has confirmed that they are satisfied that the highway 
element of the drainage strategy is acceptable. There are some outstanding 
matters that require clarification, such as confusion over which authorities will 
manage and maintain which assets, but providing these matters are overcome, 
the S104 Agreement with Anglian Water is signed and the consent to discharge 
from the IDB is provided, we will be in a position to offer technical approval on 
the S38. 

 LLFA anticipate there are no fundamental issues with the overall drainage 
strategy for the site, but we will only recommend that the condition is discharged 
when S38 technical approval is granted. 

 
7.0 Planning Issues and Discussions 
 
7.1 Condition No.11 – Foul Water  
 
7.2 The drainage strategy and associated plans show all of the foul drainage for all 

properties being picked up by various pipes within the site, which would then be 
directed to a pumped rising main which would be located within the south-eastern 
corner of the site. This pumped solution would then follow the route of the internal 
road layout before connecting to Middlegate Road at a point to be specified by and 
agreed with Anglian Water who would also specify the discharge rate. All of the foul 
sewers and associated infrastructure are shown as being adopted by Anglian Water, 
therefore it is anticipated that they would meet any required specifications. The 
proposed pump station and adopted site drainage system has been designed to 
accommodate the flows from the development and also provide additional volume 
within the system to accommodate effluent storage in the unlikely event of a pump 

Page 45



 

 

failure. This ensures that the existing surrounding area is protected against flooding 
from this development. The technical consultants have designed the scheme in full 
liaison with Anglian Water to ensure that it is fit for purpose and that there will be no 
exacerbation of any existing drainage issues in this area from the development. 

 
7.3 Anglian Water have been consulted, and have raised no objections to the foul 

drainage scheme. As indicated, all of the sewers and infrastructure are designed to 
be adopted by Anglian Water. In addition, technical approval would be required by 
Anglian Water  

                           under the Water Industry Act, and as a result, any necessary off-site improvements 
to  infrastructure could be secured through that route by the statutory undertaker. 
 
7.4 On that basis, Officers consider that the foul drainage scheme is acceptable as 
             presented. It is therefore recommended that these details are agreed. 
 
7.5 Condition No. 12 – Surface Water 
 
7.6 The scheme as presented represents a comprehensive surface water drainage 

approach. The surface water drainage strategy for the site consists of a sustainable 
drainage system which intercepts and collects all the impermeable areas created by 
the development and directs these flows to two attenuation ponds (either side of the 
IDB maintained watercourse running through the site) before controlled flow outfall 
via flow controls before ultimate outfall into the IDB maintained watercourse. When 
the flow is restricted water backs up into the pond areas which are sized to take the 
volumes of water expected. 

 
7.7 It includes a combination of Swales, piped drains, attenuation ponds, and regulated 

outfalls in to the existing watercourse which runs within the site. Hydrobrakes would 
be used to control the outflows to the watercourse, and regulate flows (5.0 l/s & 9.8 
l/s). Surface water would not be connected to any infrastructure in Middlegate Road. 
The catchment plans provided clearly show all potential sources of surface water run-
off have been considered, including rainwater from properties and impermeable 
areas. The drainage design ensures that the proposed on site drainage system 
accommodates up to and including the 1 in 100 year plus 40% climate change 
allowance without flooding of the drainage network on site. Therefore no flooding to 
adjacent land outside the development boundary. The controlled surface water 
discharge from the site post development is set at a total of 14.8 l/s which equates to 
1.4 l/s/ha for the site application area – the agent has advised that the application for 
discharge of the surface water has been made to Black Sluice IDB who have 
confirmed this is being processed and have no objection. 

 
7.8 The proposal includes for a combination of private drainage which would be within 

the responsibility of both property owners and a management company for the site, 
and also larger scale infrastructure (such as the swales) which are intended to be 
adopted by Anglian Water. The agent has advised that the roads are to be adopted 
and maintained by Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) along with the roadside swale 
top (grass area). The filter material under the swale and pipework is to be adopted 
and maintained by Anglian Water. All underground surface water sewers up to and 
including the headwalls into the attenuation ponds are to be adopted and 

Page 46



 

 

maintained by Anglian Water. The ponds and downstream flow controls are to be 
maintained by the management company for the site which will be funded by the 
service charges for each dwelling on the site linked to the deeds of the dwelling. 
Larkfleet Homes have a standard management and maintenance specification which 
is used on numerous sites which covers the maintenance regime for the assets in 
accordance with the guidance in the SUDs Manual C753. 

 
7.9 Swales run alongside a number of the main internal routes, along the eastern and 

southern boundaries (adjacent to Middlegate Road). These would also be under-
drained in some cases, and pipes would be used to connect these to form a single 
system. 

 
7.10 The attenuation ponds are to be located in the centre of the site, to the east of the 

main access and would bound the existing watercourse. These would have a 
combined volume of c4300m3. These would be connected to the wider surface water 
system, acting as a gathering and holding point for the water. The outfalls from these 
would be restricted by hydrobrakes, to ensure appropriate drainage rates in to the 
existing watercourse which is managed by the IDB. In terms of timetables and 
phasing, the construction of the two attenuation ponds, flow controls and headwalls 
will be completed before there are any proposed impermeable areas constructed, 
ensuring that the control measures for surface water control are in place to 
safeguard against any unrestricted flows off site. 

 
7.11 Perimeter land drains are also proposed along the southern and western boundaries 

(shared with properties on Middlegate Road), these would seek to capture any 
excess run-off from the proposed properties and their gardens owing to the raising of 
land-levels. The agent has advised that this land drain is to be 300mm diameter to 
provide robust spare flow capacity to ensure no water leaves the development site in 
times of rainfall, hence protecting the adjacent existing residential properties. This 
would then be piped in to the wider surface water system for the development. This 
has been raised by the IDB and accepted by the Developers engineers.  The agent has 
advised that the proposed land drain to the western and southern boundaries shall 
be constructed alongside the initial earthworks programme for raising the site levels. 
This ensures that the land drains to protect the existing residential properties to the 
west and south are in place to intercept any run off from the raised land during the 
construction phase through to completion of the construction work. 

 
7.12 It is also noted that existing and proposed IDB easements would be accounted for 

within the scheme. 
 
7.13 Turning to the specific responses of the technical consultees: 
 

 Members will note that Anglian Water have confirmed that none of the drainage 
for surface water is proposed to connect in to their assets and thus they have no 
comments on the proposal. 

 It can be seen that the Black Sluice IDB are generally satisfied with the proposals 
and are comfortable that sufficient clarification has been presented to show that 
the overall scheme is acceptable. There are some minor concerns, however, 
these can be addressed via discussion with the Board through the relevant Land 

Page 47



 

 

Drainage consenting process. This may result in minor changes to the scheme. In 
general terms it can be seen that they raise no objection to the proposals. 

 The LLFA have provided interim comments as seen earlier in the report. They 
have advised that in principle, the drainage strategy appears to be acceptable, 
although there are some outstanding S38 technical matters, and separate 
approvals from Anglian Water and the IDB which are required before they can 
sign off the S38 and recommend the conditions are discharged. This may result in 
minor changes to the scheme. In general terms it can be seen that they raise no 
objection to the proposals. 

 
7.14 It is noted that there are concerns raised by third parties, which seem to suggest that 

the new development will compound existing problems. In this respect, it cannot be 
expected that the development would deliver a betterment of the existing situation, 
but moreover, that it is sufficient to ensure that the situation is not worsened. The 
concerns relate to the relationship with the land to the north of properties fronting 
Middlegate Road. As set out above, the proposals include provision for a land-drain 
to be located along the perimeter of the site. This was originally shown as a potential 
option (if required), but following discussions with the IDB, confirmation from the 
engineers to the IDB has been provided that this drain would be installed. This would 
provide a suitable solution that should avoid any negative impacts arising from the 
raising of the land levels and associated run-off. In the event that longer-term there 
were continued issues regarding the run-off in this area, it would be a civil matter 
between the parties relating to land drainage. It is therefore considered that the 
condition compliance has shown, as far as practicably possible in planning terms, that 
the proposed arrangements would be acceptable and would be compliant with the 
aims of the condition. 

 
7.15 The overall solution is considered to be appropriate and reflect of a sustainable 

drainage solution. It comprises a number of relatively common techniques, including 
those used at the Quadrant. The scheme has been designed taking in to 
consideration the context established by the original Drainage Strategy presented at 
application stage, and follows technical evaluation of drainage conditions, ground 
conditions, run off rates, site size, permeable/impermeable area, quality of existing 
watercourses, capacity, and the requirements of the statutory bodies. In general 
terms therefore, Officers consider that the scheme is well conceived and reflective of 
policy objectives and those set out in the condition. 

 
7.16 In detail, it is considered that all of the component parts of the condition have been 

demonstrated as being acceptable based on the submitted details. Therefore the 
details would appear to be acceptable.  

 
7.17 As set out above, although these matters are controlled by planning conditions, there 

are also overlapping technical and other legislative requirements relating to surface 
water drainage which the Developer must achieve compliance with. It is noted that 
the LLFA and IDB both require further levels of detail in order to secure technical 
compliance in relation to their respective legislations (eg S38 of the Highway Act). 
However, this should not preclude the Local Planning Authority from taking its own 
decision in relation to the details that have been provided and whether they are 
sufficient to meet the requirements of the conditions which in simple terms are more 

Page 48



 

 

high-level, than the granular level of technical detail which is required for these 
respective statutory undertakers. Therefore, in terms of the level of detail that has 
been presented to satisfy the conditions, it is considered that an appropriate level of 
information has been provided to enable the Local Planning Authority to make an 
informed decision. That decision is influenced by the views of the relevant technical 
consultees, none of whom have any substantive or remaining objections to the 
proposals and who are better placed than the LPA to advise on the technical 
suitability of the proposals. To that end, Officers consider that the proposals appear 
to be acceptable, and there would appear to be no over-riding reason or 
consideration that would lead to a contra view. As such, Officers recommend that the 
details provided are acceptable to meet the pre-development requirements of the 
condition. 

 
7.18 On that basis, Officers consider that the surface water drainage scheme is acceptable 

as presented. It is therefore recommended that these details are agreed. 
 
8.0 Recommendation 

 
8.1 In light of the aforementioned report, Officers recommend to Members that the 

details provided in respect of conditions 11 & 12 relating to foul and surface water 
drainage are acceptable.  
 

8.2 Members are therefore requested to endorse the view and conclusion of Officers so 
that we may respond to these matters accordingly within the formal response to the 
discharge of condition request that has been made. The recommendation being that 
the details for conditions 11 & 12 be agreed. 

 
8.3 Members are also asked to delegate authorisation to the AD – Planning, to issue the 

final sign-off of the conditions, subject to any minor amendments that may be 
required. 
 
  

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING APPLICATION B/19/0040

Planning Application:
Residential development consisting of 139 dwellings, including associated

roads, public open space and drainage infrastructure

Location:
Land off London Road, Kirton, Boston, PE20 1JE

Applicant:
Ashwood Homes

Page 51

Agenda Item 3



P
age 52



 

 

BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
Planning Committee – 27

th
 April 2021 

 

 

Reference No: B/19/0040  
 
Expiry Date:  20-May-2019 
Extension of Time: 17-Sep-2019 
 
Application Type: Full Planning Permission 
Proposal:  Residential development consisting of 139 dwellings, including  

associated roads, public open space and drainage infrastructure  
Site:   Land off London Road, Kirton, Boston, PE20 1JE 
 
Applicant:  Ashwood Homes 
Agent:   Mrs Natalie Wallinger, NKW Design Ltd 
 
Ward:   Kirton & Frampton Parish: Kirton Parish Council 
 
Case Officer:  Grant Fixter Third Party Reps: As per original report – 

Appendix 1 
  
Recommendation: APPROVE  
 

 
 

Page 53



 

 

 
1.0 Reason for Report 

 
1.1 This report is presented to the Planning Committee as a supplementary report 

following the previous consideration of the application to the Committee.  
 

1.2 The Committee resolved, at its meeting on the 17th September 2019, to grant 
conditional permission for the application subject to the satisfactory conclusion of a 
legal agreement under Section 106 of the Town & Country Planning Act (report 
attached as Appendix 1).  
 

1.3 Since that time, the Applicants presented a material change to the scheme through 
the submission of a viability report, which sought to reduce/remove those matters 
which would have formed the basis of the S106 agreement. This was presented on 
the basis of concerns relating to scheme viability, and significant changes in economic 
circumstances since the resolution was reached. This matter has been subject of 
considerable discussion between Officers (and the Councils external viability 
advisors) and the Applicant. This has now reached a point where the application is 
reported back to the Planning Committee to seek an updated, and final resolution in 
respect of the application.  

 
1.4 The scheme in overall terms remains largely unchanged from that previously 

considered by Members, save for some very minor amendments – which principally 
relate to the distribution of the proposed affordable dwellings. Therefore the report 
attached at Appendix 1 remains relevant, and this report should be read in 
conjunction with that earlier report. That earlier report clearly set out the overall 
policy context for the development, the consultation responses, and a full evaluation 
of the scheme. It also set out recommended conditions. The minutes of the meeting 
are provided at Appendix 2 
 

1.5 The application site remains as per the previous report, it is located within the 
settlement boundary of Kirton and consists of a parcel of land measuring 
approximately 4.26 hectares that extends from the western side of London Road to 
Woodside Road. The application site has been included within the South East 
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) as a housing allocation under the reference 
Kir041. This allocation also includes two smaller parcels of land that are not included 
within the application site.  
 

1.6 To provide clarity, phase 1 of the allocation has been approved and is under 
construction (this provided 21 affordable units in a scheme of 105 dwellings under 
reference B/15/0391 as a policy compliant scheme), this site comprises phase 2 
where permission is sought for 139 dwellings, and phase 3 relates to a separate 
planning application (B/19/0146) which has been subject to constructive discussions 
and comprises a policy compliant scheme. Across all 3 sites, a total of 312 dwellings 
would be provided. 
 

1.7 As Members will recall, and see from Appendix 1, the scheme previously made 
commitments to providing the full 20% affordable housing contribution and the 
requested educational financial contribution. The scheme was found to be 

Page 54



 

 

acceptable in all respects and members were in agreement with the officer’s 
recommendation of approval.  
 

1.8 Initial progress was made on the legal agreement, however, the Applicants began to 
raise some concerns with respect to viability due to on-site issues they were 
encountering on phase 1, and these included unknown additional costs relating to 
groundworks as a result of ground conditions. The applicant’s approached the 
Council in March 2020, post the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic to discuss the 
viability of the scheme, owing to experiences encountered during phase 1 which is 
now well underway, in particular the costs around the de-watering of the site, 
coupled with the economic uncertainty that the pandemic had created, and 
increased development costs including materials and finance. A detailed viability 
appraisal was subsequently presented. 
 

1.9 As is normal practice, the Council consulted its external viability advisors to assess 
the details presented. Considerable and lengthy dialogue has been held between 
Officers, the consultants, and the Applicants and their advisors. This has included 
detailed consideration of the content of the reports and the provision of evidence 
from the Applicants all of which are discussed further in this report. 
 

1.10 Following this dialogue, it is agreed between Officers and our external advisors that 
the development cannot support the policy compliant position previously presented, 
whilst still allowing a viable development to come forward. The Councils external 
advisors have recommended scenarios which identify when contributions could be 
received without prejudicing the viability of the scheme. As a consequence, 
discussions have been held with the Applicant and a revised set of Heads of Terms for 
the development have been presented.  
 

1.11 The revised position for the site is to now provide 9 affordable housing units (6.47% 
contribution comprising 6 rented and 3 shared ownership properties) and the full 
education contribution. These are the final Heads of Terms. 
 

1.12 The report that follows sets out before members the basis for the revised position, 
and a recommendation that this is accepted, particularly when considering its 
relationship with phases 1 and 3, the wider context of the development. The report 
also sets out the general context for viability assessment, and how this should be 
viewed in the planning balance alongside matters such as ensuring housing delivery. 
Finally, it summarises alternative options for members, and the reasons these are not 
recommended. 
 

1.13 It is important to note and highlight to members that the purpose of presenting this 
submission to planning committee is to solely discuss viability matters and the S106 
agreement. The scheme is acceptable in all other regards so discussion and 
consideration should be limited to the viability matters outlined in this report. The 
recommendation before Members is that the revised viability position is accepted, 
the Heads of Terms are amended, and that conditional permission be granted, 
subject to the conclusion of a legal agreement under S106 of the Town & Country 
Planning Act. 
 

Page 55



 

 

1.14 The report concludes by recommending that permission be granted, subject to 
conclusion of a S106 agreement based on the final Heads of Terms. 
 

2.0 Relevant Policy 
 

The overall policy context of the development was set out in detail within the original 
report (Appendix 1), thus this section seeks only to elaborate on the planning policy 
context relating to viability matters. 
 
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 
 
 Policy 6 – Developer Contributions; 
 Policy 18 – Affordable Housing; 
 Appendix 5 – Infrastructure requirements, constraints and mitigation - Housing 

Allocations in Kirton; 
 Appendix 8 – Developer contributions for education. 

 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 
 Section 2 – Achieving Sustainable Development 
 Section 4 – Decision Making  
 Section 5 – Delivering a Sufficient Supply of Homes  
 Section 11 – Making Effective Use of Land  

 
Planning Practice Guidance  
 
“Where a viability assessment is submitted to accompany a planning application this 
should be based upon and refer back to the viability assessment that informed the 
plan; and the applicant should provide evidence of what has changed since then. 
 
The weight to be given to a viability assessment is a matter for the decision maker, 
having regard to all the circumstances in the case, including whether the plan and 
viability evidence underpinning the plan is up to date, and site circumstances 
including any changes since the plan was brought into force, and the transparency of 
assumptions behind evidence submitted as part of the viability assessment.” - 
Paragraph: 008 Reference ID: 10-008-20190509 
 

3.0 Previous Heads of Terms (Policy compliant position) 
 

3.1 As set out in Appendix 1, the scheme originally proposed 20% Affordable Housing 
units (equating to 28 affordable homes on the site) and a contribution of £430,531 
towards one additional general teaching classroom at Thomas Middlecott Secondary 
School and a new sports hall at Boston Grammar School.  
 

4.0 Viability submissions by applicant  
 
4.1 A full Viability Report dated 12/06/20 was submitted to the Council which outlined 

the costs associated with delivering the scheme with the full affordable housing and 
education contributions.  

Page 56



 

 

 
4.2 In short, when accounting for the conditions of the site, experiences from phase 1 on 

the adjacent land, and the change in costs since the adoption of the SELLP (and its 
associated Whole Plan Viability report) in 2019 , the applicants deemed the 
development of the site as proposed would not be viable. It could not feasibly be 
brought forward for development with the required Heads of Terms.  
 

4.3 In short, they presented a position which outlined: 
 
 20% affordable housing provision and S106 cash contributions of £430,531 

would show significant financial deficit based on the current market value, 
affordable rents of proposed units, projected costs and profit level within the 
appraisal and the BLV (benchmark land value); 

 No affordable housing and no financial contribution would still equate to a 
financial deficit but one which a developer would still deliver the site and accept 
a marginally reduced profit; 

 Affordable housing and financial contributions should be removed.  
 

4.4 The viability submissions outlined above were referred for independent assessment 
for the Council. 

 
5.0 Independent viability findings 
 
5.1 The Councils external advisors considered a range of factors including the reasons 

why a viability position is presented in light of the allocation in the Local Plan; and 
also examines all of the standard inputs in to the viability model. They also advise on 
the wider consideration of viability as set out in Local Policy and National Planning 
Guidance. 
 

5.2 A Quantity Surveyor (QS) was also engaged to advise specifically in relation to the 
costs associated with the development. All of these contributed to an independent 
appraisal model being built by the advisors, which was then used to evaluate the 
viability of the scheme and also offered up alternative scenarios which could be 
tested. This allowed for full analysis of all inputs, including those of the Applicants. 

 
5.3 The key points of note from the assessment are as follows: 

 
 The build density of the scheme is lower than assumed in the Local Plan Study. 
 The build costs adopted have increased by around 30% compared with the Local 

Plan viability study, which was conducted around 3 years ago, therefore a 
significant uplift is expected. Additions for wider strip foundations and increasing 
the slab level, are considered reasonable. 

 The sales values are around 16% higher than the figures used the in Local Plan 
viability study, and this is reasonable considering price inflation since 2017. The 
values adopted for are based on what has been achieved on other Ashwood 
Homes sites in the locality. The difference between increased costs and sales 
values results in considerable increased pressure on the viability position. 

Page 57



 

 

 There is difference in externals and abnormals since the Local Plan, taking in to 
consideration on site, and planning policy factors such as EV charging and Flood 
Risk (i.e. extra fill and de-watering). 

 The factors above combined result in a different viability position compared with 
the Local Plan whole viability study, and thus results in the need to revisit the 
viability position in order for the development to be delivered. 

 
In terms of the inputs in to the model the Councils advisor has identified: 
 
 Sales values are considered reasonable 
 The Benchmark Land Value is considered reasonable 
 The inputs for Affordable Housing and Education are reasonable 
 The majority of Costs are agreed with. Noting that there is variance between the 

QS position and the Applicants in respect of some External costs and Abnormals 
in particular. 

 Profit, Professional Fees, Finance etc are all within standard ranges. 
 The key matter of disagreement is around Abnormal and External costs. 

 
5.4 Abnormal costs (c£1.4m) included within the Applicants viability include: Wide strip 

foundations; Increase slab levels; Filling site levels; Well point dewatering; Electric 
charge points; SUDS & storm attenuation; Foul pumping station & rising main. In 
summary, there is disagreement with the Applicants allowances which are based 
upon actual costs incurred to date and based on local experience, as opposed to the 
advice from the QS which is based upon RCIS Build Costs and hypothetical costs. 
Clearly the extent to which these inputs are used has an impact on the viability model 
for the scheme. 
 

5.5 When taken as a whole, there is circa £525k difference between the Applicants 
position on costs, and those advised by the QS. Which is equivalent to circa 2% of 
GDV for the development. 
 

5.6 In short, the independent assessment concluded that whilst they agreed with the 
applicant’s view the full 20% affordable housing and education provision cannot be 
viably delivered by the subject scheme, they are of the view some level of provision 
can be provided. This is due to some disagreement regarding some inputs in to the 
appraisal as set out above. 
 

5.7 The modelling outlined that four potential scenarios could be provided which would 
allow the development to come forward. However, these scenarios are caveated in 
that they are dependent on the assumptions with respect to external costs, 
abnormals and benchmark land value: 
 
 

Scenario Affordable housing Education  

Scenario 1 20 units (15.11%), 13 afford rent, 8 shared ownership £430,531 

Scenario 2 9 units (6.47%), 5 afford rent, 4 shared ownership £430,531 

Scenario 3 17 units (12.23%), 11 afford rent, 6 shared ownership £430,531 

Scenario 4 28 units (20.14%), 20 afford rent, 8 shared ownership £430,531 

Page 58



 

 

 
 

5.8 The Councils advisors also acknowledged sympathy with the Applicants, in that larger 
schemes can sometimes be less viable when compared to smaller sites, particularly in 
relatively low value areas. There was acknowledgement that given the experiences 
encountered with phase 1 and the change in costs and values, there can be changes 
in viability. 
 

5.9 The advice to the Council from the viability advisor was that a compromised position, 
as identified by Scenario 3, would be a reasonable way forward as this sought to 
strike a balance between the developers position and that required by planning 
policy. 

 
6.0 Applicants final position 

 
6.1 Discussions between the applicant and Council followed, where the applicant’s 

maintained their disagreement with some of the findings outlined above, in 
particular the figures relied upon by the QS which did not reflect local circumstances. 
The applicant’s also believe they would have good grounds to challenge such findings 
if the matter went to appeal as their costs are based on evidence related to 
development on Phase 1. This is, however, not their intention and they agree with 
the Council’s view that there has now been extensive back and forth with no real 
progress. In short, continued dialogue is not effective for either party and the matter 
needs to be brought to a conclusion. 
 

6.2 Being eager to break the deadlock, the applicant confirmed that whilst they do not 
agree wholly with the findings, their best and final offer would be to carry out a 
scheme in line with scenario 2 outlined above. This is a positive move from their 
original position. 
 

6.3 In addition, the Applicant has also made a commitment to the Council that should 
scenario 2 be agreed, delivery of the site would commence within 18 months, with an 
anticipated start date of December. The basis being that they are a local builder, with 
a clear track record of delivery in the area, they are committed to development in the 
Borough (having nearly completed a scheme at Swineshead) and wish to press on 
with Phases 2 and 3 of this development in Kirton subject to gaining deliverable 
permissions. The Applicants also drew attention to an adjacent site (B/20/0293) 
which is intended to be delivered as 100% Affordable Housing, and thus, in the 
general context of this part of Kirton there are sufficient sites to ensure that 
affordable housing is delivered, alongside market products, thus meeting the full 
range of needs. 
 

6.4 For Members wider awareness, they have highlighted that they have delivered a 
policy compliant scheme on Phase 1, and have also since withdrawn their viability 
challenge on the Phase 3 scheme (68units) and have committed to a policy compliant 
scheme on that phase. 

 
 
 

Page 59



 

 

7.0 Officer Assessment and Planning Balance 
 
7.1 Section 38(6) of the Act requires that proposals are determined in accordance with 

the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. It is well-
defined in case law that the development plan (in this case the SELLP) should be 
taken as a whole and it is for the decision-maker to weigh up compliance/lack of 
compliance with policies of the development plan, along with all relevant material 
considerations. The weight attributed to each of these factors within this exercise is 
known as the ‘planning balance’. 
 

7.2 Both the Local Plan, and National Planning Policy, allow for the consideration of 
viability matters, to ensure that developments are enabled to come forward and are 
not unduly prejudiced by expectations regarding delivery of developer contributions. 
This must be carefully balanced with the need to ensure the effects of development 
are duly mitigated. This is further elaborated upon in the Planning Practice Guidance 
as set out earlier in this report. 
 

7.3 In this case, the scheme as a whole was found to be acceptable. The only remaining 
matter therefore is whether or not the Council accepts the viability position proposed 
by the Applicant, and accepts their revised Heads of Terms. This matter has been 
ongoing for some time, as set out above, and a conclusion needs to be reached.  
 

7.4 It is considered that sufficient evidence has been presented to demonstrate, that in 
the round, there is a viability pressure with regard to this development. It is accepted 
that the scheme as originally proposed could not provide the contributions as 
previously set out, whilst allowing a viable form of development to come forward. 
That is to say, that even if the original terms were agreed, the development on this 
allocated site would be unlikely to come forward. Noting in particular the differences 
in cost inflation (30%) and value increases (16%) since the viability for the Local Plan 
was undertaken. 
 

7.5 Given the above, this matter turns on the extent of External and Abnormal costs and 
the effect that they have on the viability of the proposal. Officers have considered 
both the Applicants position and the advice provided to the Council. It is clear that 
one approach is based upon actual costs incurred locally, and the other is based upon 
a theoretical approach based on a standard methodology. These two are clearly at 
odds. Officers have sympathy with the Applicants in this instance, as it is understood 
that there have been significant unknown challenges with the existing Phase 1 site (in 
particular dewatering and fill costs), equally however, some costs such as Flood Risk 
mitigation are not uncommon within this area. That said, these costs do add to the 
overall costs of development, and as agreed by the Councils advisor, costs have 
generally risen at a greater rate than sales values within the local area. This as a 
starting presumption does place significant added pressure on development viability 
within the Borough.  
 

7.6 With this in mind, the main consideration is whether or not the offer, as set out in 
Scenario 2, is acceptable. This is: 
 
 6.47% Affordable Housing (9 units) and 

Page 60



 

 

 Education contribution totalling £430,531 
 

7.7 Scenario 2 was discussed with Housing Strategy who confirmed when considering the 
site, proposed contributions and wider development, the revised contributions are 
acceptable. Housing Strategy did, however, request the mix of affordable units was 
changed from 5 rented and 4 shared ownership to 6 rented and 3 shared ownership. 
This is because there is a more pressing need for affordable rented units in the 
Borough and the Applicant agreed to the requested change. Therefore the mix to be 
provided would be in accordance with the Councils requirements – 6 rented, 3 
shared ownership. 
 

7.8 In this instance, it is important to consider the viability of the development, along 
with the contributions proposed, as part of the overall planning balance. 
 

7.9 The full Education contribution will still be provided. Thus this policy requirement 
would be met. This weighs in favour of the scheme. 
 

7.10 For Affordable Housing, whilst the proposals would not at face value be policy 
compliant, by virtue of the provision of 6.47% as opposed to the required 20%, the 
relevant policies of the local plan do allow for a lesser provision where it is 
appropriately justified. In this case, it is considered that a clear and appropriate 
justification has been presented, which has been independently assessed. Therefore 
despite some lack of compliance, overall, the proposals would remain in accordance 
with the objectives of the Local Plan and National Policy and the mix proposed would 
reflect the Councils requirement. This weighs in favour of the proposal. 
 

7.11 The proposed arrangements are a compromised solution, which seek to balance the 
Applicants position, and that of the policy requirement. This is considered to be 
appropriate and justified in this instance and would enable the delivery of this 
development on an allocated site in the Local Plan. Additionally, the Applicants have 
committed to commencing delivery on the site within the next 18mths, with an 
aspiration to commence works in 2021 subject to permission being granted. These 
factors weigh in favour of the proposals as this site would contribute significantly to 
the objectives of the Local Plan due to its allocation, and its contribution to housing 
supply for the Borough. 
 

7.12 Finally, it is important to consider the delivery of affordable housing on site as part of 
the wider allocation and within the immediate context for Kirton. Phase 1 is already 
under construction and was policy compliant in respect of affordable housing. Phase 
3 forms a separate application and this will also be policy compliant. Adding in the 
proposed position for Phase 2 would deliver a blended position over the 3 sites which 
equates to approximately 14% affordable (compared to 20% requirement). In 
addition, there is also a fully affordable scheme to the north for 42 units which has 
been recently consented, further raising the affordable housing provision in the area. 
As such, it is considered that cumulatively there are sufficient opportunities to deliver 
affordable housing in this area, which would meet the needs of residents of the 
Borough, alongside the provision of market products. This again weighs in favour of 
the proposals. 
 

Page 61



 

 

7.13 Clearly an alternative would be for the Council to stand firm, and seek to either 
refuse permission, or continue to negotiate. However, this course of action is unlikely 
to be beneficial, and could expose the Council to risks through the Appeal process if a 
refusal is chosen. In this context, whilst the provision of Affordable Housing is clearly 
an important matter, this must be carefully balanced with the overall benefits of 
housing delivery and also be based upon sound evidence. Officers do not consider 
that the Applicants position is an unreasonable one, and in the context of the overall 
scheme, the amounts involved are relatively small, therefore it is considered that the 
position put forward by the Applicants are acceptable in this instance. Members will 
also note that this does not set a precedent for an approach in respect of this matter 
on other sites as each site and development must be based upon its own merits, and 
informed by its own evidence and circumstances. 
 

7.14 For the reasons outlined above, Officers are of the view this is an acceptable 
compromise which will still obtain some affordable housing and the full education 
contribution. It is therefore recommended that the Committee resolve to approve 
the development on this basis, subject to the completion of a legal agreement, and in 
accordance with the conditions recommended. 
 

8.0 Alternatives 
 
8.1 Whilst it was agreed by Officers (and our external consultants) that the scheme could 

not support full affordable housing contribution and education contributions, the 
modelling did, however, show some form of contribution was still possible. With the 
suggestion that scenario 3 was an appropriate compromise. The applicant heavily 
disagreed with the figures outlined, but they were willing to compromise with 
scenario 2 and this is their final offer. This has been subject to some lengthy dialect 
between both parties, with both recognising an agreement was needed. The 
willingness to negotiate and compromise when in disagreement with the 
independent findings should be acknowledged.  

 
8.2 At this stage, it is important to outline the potential alternatives to members.  

 
8.3 Option 1 - We do not accept the applicant’s compromise of scenario 2 and seek 

further negotiation. These negotiations have essentially been going on for over 6 
months and we are finally at an agreed position, with both parties compromising. 
Furthermore, the applicant is unlikely to be forthcoming given the extent of 
discussions already and the compromise reached. Further independent assessment 
would be required which would pose the risk that all contributions could actually be 
undermined. There would also be further time delays and the outcome would likely 
be the lack of delivery on an allocated site. If this is an option members wished 
Officers to explore, it is requested that that the Committee give a clear steer on 
which option they wish Officers to pursue. However, for the reasons set out above, 
and linked to the wider content of this report this option is not recommended. 
 

8.4 Option 2 - We do not accept the compromise of scenario 2, or indeed the overall 
viability argument, and seek to refuse planning permission. Such a refusal would 
have to be solely on the grounds of a lack of infrastructure provision against the 
requirements of SELLP Policies 6 and 18. This would raise the potential of an appeal 

Page 62



 

 

which could see the removal of all contributions, and would come with added 
burdens and risks in terms of costs and delays which would affect the Council as well 
as the Applicants. This approach would also risk the lack of delivery on an allocated 
site, in addition to the potential for an inspector to remove all contributions. For the 
reasons set out above, and linked to the wider content of this report this option is 
not recommended. 
 

9.0 Conclusion & Recommendation 
 

9.1 For the reasons set out above in this report, read in conjunction with the earlier 
report and committee minutes as set out in Appendices 1 & 2, Officers consider that 
the proposals are in accordance with the development plan when taken as a whole, 
and that significant positive weight should be attached to the provision of housing on 
this allocated site.  

 
9.2 Thus, it is recommended that Committee RESOLVE TO GRANT PLANNING 

PERMISSION subject to the following conditions and the completion of the section 
106 agreement relating to affordable housing and contributions towards education 
as detailed in the report. 
 

9.3 The conditions are to be transferred from those set out within Appendix 1, save for 
those which are amended as follows: 

 
Condition 1 is the Time Limit condition and it is recommended that this is amended 
to reflect the commitment to commence delivery on site within 2 years. 

 
Condition 2 from the 17/09/21 Planning Committee report has been amended below 
to include the revised Planning Layout which outlines which units will be affordable.  

 
The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 

 
 Ref: 1197/LP/SP – ‘Location Plan - Southern Phase’ 
 Ref: 90A-PL-01 Rev E – ‘Planning Layout - Southern Phase’ 
 Ref: 90A-HOL-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Holland’ 
 Ref: 90A-DEE-01 – ‘Design Sheet - Dee’ 
 Ref: 90A-EDN-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Eden’ 
 Ref: 90A AV-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Avon’ 
 Ref: 90A-CLY-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Clyde’ 
 Ref: 90A-SPAR-01 – ‘Design Sheet - Sparta’ 
 Ref: 90A-CORO-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Coronation’ 
 Ref: 90A-CORO-002 – ‘Design Sheet - Coronation’ 
 Ref: 90A-LCK-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Lock’ 
 Ref: 90A-MER-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Mere’ 
 Ref: 90A-MER-002 – ‘Design Sheet - Mere’ 
 Ref: 90A-NENE-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Nene’ 
 Ref: 90A-BAL-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Balmoral’ 
 Ref: 90A-BAL-002 – ‘Design Sheet - Balmoral’ 
 Ref: 90A-RIBB-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Ribble’ 

Page 63



 

 

 Ref: 90A-HUM-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Humber’ 
 Ref: 90A-HUM-002 – ‘Design Sheet - Humber’ 
 Ref: 90A-A516-001 – ‘Design Sheet - A516’ 
 Ref: 90A-A516-002 – ‘Design Sheet - A516’ 
 Ref: 90A-A732-001 – ‘Design Sheet - A732’ 
 Ref: 90A-A902-001 – ‘Design Sheet - A902’ 
 Ref: 90A-A1336-001 – ‘Design Sheet - A1336’ 
 Ref: 1197/LA1 Rev A – ‘Landscape Proposals - Sheet 1 of 11’ 
 Ref: 1197/LA1 Rev A – ‘Landscape Proposals - Sheet 2 of 11’ 
 Ref: 1197/LA1 Rev A – ‘Landscape Proposals - Sheet 3 of 11’ 
 Ref: 1197/LA1 Rev A – ‘Landscape Proposals - Sheet 4 of 11’ 
 Ref: 1197/LA1 Rev B – ‘Landscape Proposals - Sheet 5 of 11’ 
 Ref: 1197/LA1 Rev B – ‘Landscape Proposals - Sheet 7 of 11’ 
 Ref: 90A-SG-01 – ‘Design Sheet - Single Garage’ 
 Ref: 90A-DG-01 – ‘Design Sheet - Double Garage’ 
 Ref: 90A-DSG-01 – ‘Design Sheet - Double Shared Garage’ 
 Ref: 90A-TSG-01 – ‘design Sheet - Triple Shared Garage’ 

 
And read in conjunction with the various recommendations of the supporting 
documents which accompany the application unless varied by other conditions 
attached to and forming part of this decision. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with approved 
plans in accordance with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 
(2011-2036). 

  
9.4 The remaining conditions in Appendix 1 remain unchanged and should be attached to 

any subsequent permission. 
 
 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1 – Planning Committee report from 17/09/2019  
Appendix 2 – Planning Committee minutes from 17/09/2019 

Page 64



 

 

BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 

Planning Committee - 17 September 2019 
 

 

Reference No:    B/19/0040  
 
Expiry Date:  20-May-2019 
Extension of Time: Until 17/09/2019 
 
Application Type: Full Planning Permission 
 
Proposal:  Residential development consisting of 139 dwellings, including 

associated roads, public open space and drainage infrastructure  
Site:   Land off London Road, Kirton, Boston, PE20 1JE 
 
Applicant:    Ashwood Homes 
Agent:   Mrs Natalie Wallinger, NKW Design Ltd 
 
Case Officer:                 John Taylor         Third Party Reps: Two 
 
Link to Application:     B/19/0040  
 
Recommendation: RESOLVE TO GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONCLUSION OF A LEGAL 
AGREEMENT

 
 

Page 65

https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/


 

 

 
 
 
1.0 Reason for Report 

 
1.1 This application has been presented to the Planning Committee at the suggestion of 

the Growth Manager, due to scale of the development and the issues raised. The 
proposal also includes a S106 legal agreement for contributions towards on-site 
affordable housing as well as a financial contribution towards education provision. 

 
2.0 Application Site and Proposal 
 
2.1 The application site is located within the settlement boundary of Kirton and consists of 

a parcel of land measuring approximately 4.26 hectares that extends from the western 
side of London Road to Woodside Road. Vehicular access to the site will be off London 
Road. The site has been included within the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-
2036) as a housing allocation under the reference Kir041. This allocation also includes 
two smaller parcels of land that are not included within the application site. 

 
2.2 The site does not contain any buildings and is currently used for agricultural purposes. 

No other known constraints affect the site. 
 
2.3  The site is allocated in the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) under ref: 

Kir041. This allocation identifies the following considerations for the site: 
 

 Development proposals will need to be informed by a Heritage Impact Assessment, 
to address impacts on the historic townscape & in particular how it would preserve 
& enhance the CA. 

 Vehicular access from Woodside Road would not be acceptable, but 
pedestrian/cycle access would be desirable 

 The site is within Flood Zone 3a, and the SFRA identifies flood hazard in 2115 as 
‘danger for some’ and flood depth in 2115 as ‘0.25m to 0.5m. Development will be 
required to include appropriate mitigation 

 
2.4 The applicants have submitted a heritage statement that considers the impacts on 

nearby heritage assets. These include Kirton House, which is a Grade II heritage asset 
situated opposite the proposed vehicular access into the site off London Road, and 
longer distance views have of St. Peter and Paul’s church. 

 
2.5 To the north/north-east of the site are the rear garden areas of a number of dwellings 

and commercial premises that all front onto London Road. A small number of houses 
also relate closely to the southern boundary of the site which are accessed from 
Woodside Road. The northern boundary adjoins an approved residential scheme 
(Phase I) that is being constructed by the same developer as this site which was granted 
under ref B/15/0391, this was for a total of 102 dwellings. 
 

2.6  This application seeks full planning permission for the erection of 139 dwellings (Phase 
II) including associated infrastructure, public open space and drainage infrastructure. 

 

Page 66



 

 

2.7 The development would include: 
 

  4 x 1-beds 
  41 x 2-beds 
  78 x 3-beds 
  16 x 4-beds 

   
2.8 The scheme also includes for 28 dwellings which would be delivered as affordable 

housing. 
 
2.9 The application is supported by the detailed plans and the following technical 

documents: 
 

 Design and access statement 
 Air quality assessment 
 Ground investigation report 
 Ecology report 
 Assessment on the impact to designated heritage assets 
 Geophysics survey report 
 Flood risk assessment 
 Draft heads of terms statement 

 
3.0 Relevant History 
 
3.1 No recent relevant history exists for this site.  

 
4.0 Relevant Policy 
 

South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) 
 
 The site is an allocated site within the plan, forming part of Kir041. 
 

 Policy 1 – Spatial Strategy 
 Policy 2 – Development Management 
 Policy 3 – Design of New Development 
 Policy 4 – Approach to Flood Risk 
 Policy 5 – Meeting Physical Infrastructure and Service Needs 
 Policy 6 – Developer Contributions 
 Policy 10 – Meeting Assessed Housing Needs 
 Policy 11 – Distribution of New Housing 
 Policy 17 – Providing a Mix of Housing 
 Policy 18 – Affordable Housing 
 Policy 28 - The Natural Environment 
 Policy 29 - The Historic Environment 
 Policy 30 – Pollution 
 Policy 31 – Climate Change and Renewable and Low Carbon Energy 
 Policy 32 – Community, Health and Well-being 
 Policy 33 - Delivering a more Sustainable Transport System 
 Policy 36 – Vehicle and Cycle Parking 

Page 67



 

 

 Appendix 5 – Infrastructure requirements, constraints and mitigation - Housing 
Allocations in Kirton – the site forms part of Kir041 which states: 

 Development proposals will need to be informed by a Heritage Impact Assessment, 
to address impacts on the historic townscape & in particular how it would preserve 
& enhance the CA.  

 Vehicular access from Woodside Road would not be acceptable, but  
pedestrian/cycle access would be desirable. 

 The site is within Flood Zone 3a, and the SFRA identifies flood hazard in 2115 as 
‘danger for some’ and flood depth in 2115 as ‘0.25m to 0.5m. Development will 
be required to include appropriate mitigation. 

 Appendix 6 – Parking standards 
 Appendix 7 - Local Plan implementation 
 Appendix 8 – Developer contributions for education 
 Appendix 9 - Developer contributions for health care facilities 
 
 National Planning Policy Framework (2019) 
 
 Section 2 – Achieving Sustainable Development 
 Section 4 – Decision Making 
 Section 5 – Delivering a Sufficient Supply of Homes 
 Section 8 – Promoting Healthy and Safe Communities 
 Section 9 - Promoting sustainable transport 
 Section 11 – Making Effective Use of Land 
 Section 12 – Achieving Well-designed Places 
 Section 14 – Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding and Coastal 

Change 
 
5.0 Representations 

 
5.1 As a result of the publicity two letters of representation were received from the 

occupiers of the following properties: 
 

 Thomas Middlecott Drive – no. 12 
 Woodside Road – ‘Carmel’ 

 
5.2 A summary of their concerns are as follows: 

 
 Conditions should be attached to ensure that privacy is protected 
 Don’t need any more houses as they are already being built in Kirton 
 We need more services and not homes 
 Makes builders richer 

 
6.0 Consultations 
 
6.1 LCC as County Highways Authority and Lead Local Flood Authority – No objections 

subject to conditions.  
 
6.2 Parish council – No objections  
 

Page 68



 

 

6.3  Environmental Health – No objections but recommend a condition requiring electric 
vehicle (EV) re-charging points be provided as part of the development. 

 
6.4  Housing Strategy (Affordable Housing) – Fully support the proposed offer of 28 homes 

(20%) of the development to be made as affordable units. 
 
6.5 Black Sluice Internal Drainage Board – Do not object to the scheme and acknowledge 

that the developers have been in communication with the Board. Advice given to 
applicant on potential consents that may be required from the Board. 

 
6.6 Environment Agency – No objections subject to conditions ensuring that development 

proceeds fully in accordance with the submitted flood risk assessment and for details 
of a foul water drainage strategy that should be submitted for approval to the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 
6.7 Anglian Water Services – They confirm that Frampton Water Recycling Centre has 

capacity for the development. Advise development will lead to increased risk of 
flooding downstream but advise they are working with the applicant to ensure 
infrastructure improvement are delivered in line with the development. They 
recommend conditions and notes to applicant are attached to any approval. 

 
6.8 Heritage Lincolnshire – No objection subject to a condition requiring an archaeological 

evaluation of the site that shall include trial trenching. 
 
6.9 Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust – No objections to the scheme but would have liked to have 

seen some strengthening in the provision of biodiversity net gain. Advice provided for 
the developers. 

 
6.10 NHS England – Do not to wish to submit a request for a financial contribution at this 

point in time. 
 
6.11  LCC (Education) - Request a financial contribution of £430,531 towards improving 

education provision. 
 
6.12 Lincolnshire Police (community safety) – No objections but advice given. 
 
6.13 Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue – Object to the proposal unless 3no. fire hydrants are 

installed within the development site. 
 
7.0 Planning Issues and Discussions 
 
7.1 The key planning issues in the determination of this application are: 

 
 Principle of development  
 The layout, design, scale and size of the development and its impact on the 

character and appearance of the area 
 Impact on heritage assets 
 Impact on residential amenity 
 Highway safety and car parking 

Page 69



 

 

 Developer contributions 
 Flood risk and drainage 
 Ecology and wildlife 
 Other matters 
 Planning Conditions 
 Planning Balance 

 
Principle of development 
 

7.2 Policy 1 of the SELLP, which identifies Kirton as a main service centre, would generally 
support the redevelopment of the site for housing as it is located within the settlement 
boundary of Kirton and will help support Kirton’s role as a main service centre. 
Furthermore, the site is allocated for housing within the Plan under ref: Kir041. 
 

7.3 It is therefore considered that, subject to all other matters being acceptable, the 
principle of residential development on this site is supported. 

 
The layout, design, scale and size of the development and its impact on the character 
and appearance of the area 

 
7.4 The layout for the scheme shows the main vehicular access into the site being taken 

off London Road with a number of internal spur roads laid out to serve the proposed 
houses. The road layout also has a vehicular connection in to Phase 1, which is the 
development of the former Elgrow site abutting the northern boundary of the 
application site – which was granted permission for 102 dwellings under ref: 
B/15/0391 and which is currently under construction. The density for the proposed 
scheme of 139 dwellings equates to approximately 32 dwellings per hectare which in 
general density terms is considered to be appropriate for this edge of village location. 
It is noted that the allocation (Kir041) identifies an indicated number of 102 dwellings 
being accommodated, however, this is only intended as a useful starting point to 
influence development proposals. The associated policy justification identifies that 
due regard must be given to policies 2 and 3 as well as Appendix 5 to determine 
whether the specific development proposal is acceptable. 

 
7.5 All dwellings within the scheme will be two-storey with 17 different house types with 

the layout showing detached, semi-detached and town houses. Most of the properties 
have dedicated parking areas contained within the plot - many of which have private 
garages. A few of the plots do have a separate garage detached from the plot but these 
are all located close to the associated dwellinghouse that it serves. In terms of the 
design of the proposed properties they appear to be well thought out and the variation 
in design types with differing materials will create a high quality scheme, along with 
creating a distinctive sense of place for the development. The size of the dwellings also 
offer a choice from 1-bed units up to 4-bed units.   

 
7.6 All plots appear to have acceptable levels of private garden space for future occupiers 

and separation distance between habitable room windows appears acceptable. The 
relationships between properties within the development are considered to be 
acceptable in the context of a modern estate scheme.  

 

Page 70



 

 

7.7 Two areas of public open space are proposed within the site, one of which is close to 
the centre of the development and the other close to the northern boundary. This is 
considered to be an appropriate design response which would allow accessibility to 
these areas for all residents within the development.  

 
7.8 The site would alter the appearance of the area by introducing a development on 

agricultural land. There will therefore be visual change to the area as well as spatial. 
However, it is considered that in view of the sites allocation there is a general 
acceptance that the site is suitable for development and that in spatial terms this 
would be acceptable. It is accepted that there would be some visual change to the 
area, however this is unlikely to cause significant harm in terms of the development’s 
impact on the character and appearance of the area, and any harm that would result 
must be weighed in the planning balance against other positive aspects of the scheme. 

 
7.9 Based on the above assessment of the development the layout, design, size and scale 

of this proposal appears acceptable for this allocated site (Ref: Kir041) For these 
reasons the proposal appears to accord with Policies 2 and 3 of the SELLP and the 
intentions of Section 12 ‘Achieving Well-designed Places’ of the NPPF. 

 
 Impact on heritage assets 
 
7.10 Policy 29 of the SELLP sets out the criteria that must be considered where development 

proposals affect heritage assets and their settings. The policy allows development 
proposals where the resulting impact on the setting of listed buildings preserve or 
better reveal the significance of the listed building. Section 16 of the NPPF ‘Conserving 
and enhancing the historic environment’ also states that where development 
proposals have the potential to affect heritage assets then the developer needs to 
describe the significance of the assets affected. These policies seek to support the 
objectives of the Town & Country Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990, which includes specific duties under S66 (for Listed Buildings) and & 72 (for 
Conservation Areas) in respect of decision making. 

 
7.11 As part of the developer’s submission an assessment on designated heritage assets 

was carried out. This identifies that Kirton House, which is a Grade II listed building, is 
situated opposite the site’s entrance on London Road. It explains that the built form of 
the new development is to be set back approximately 20 metres from London Road 
and that when travelling along this road views of Kirton House will remain unchanged. 
It also explains how new viewpoints of Kirton House will be created when leaving the 
new estate road.   

 
7.12 A further listed building (including the entrance gates to this dwelling) is located at 

no.96 London Road. The assessment concludes that this building would be separated 
by existing dwellings and is unlikely to be affected by the proposal. 

 
7.13 The built form of the new development is set back approximately 20 metres from 

London Road (to the east) creating a good separation distance from the asset with the 
scale of the houses unlikely to be prominent within the streetscene. In conclusion, 
whilst there would be change to the context for the identified heritage assets, this 
change is not considered to be harmful and as such, the scheme would be in 

Page 71



 

 

accordance with the established planning policies and legislative special duties in 
relation to heritage assets.  

 
7.14 Further, a geophysical survey has also been submitted by the developers and this has 

highlighted the potential for archaeological remains to be present at the site. An 
appropriate condition recommending the developer to carry out a scheme of 
archaeological work to be carried out at the site that should include trial trenching. 

 
7.15 It is considered that a proper assessment of the impact on heritage assets has been 

carried out and it is concluded that the proposal would preserve and better reveal the 
views of Kirton House by the creation of new viewpoints from the new access road. 
The proposal would therefore accord with Policy 29 of the SELLP and the intentions of 
the NPPF. 

 
           Impact on residential amenity  
 
7.16 The nearest dwellings that may be impacted by the development are the three 

properties along Woodside Road, known as ‘Breson’, ‘Carmel’ and ‘Millstone House’. 
Only two representations have been received, one of which was from the dwelling 
known ‘Carmel’ 

 
7.17 The three dwellings referred to above are located on good-sized plots. In terms of the 

separation distances between the built form of the new development and the existing 
dwellings, a distance of almost 20 metres will be maintained between their rear 
elevation and the nearest part of any new dwellinghouse. It is therefore unlikely that 
any harmful dominance or visual intrusion would occur as a result of the new 
development. 

 
7.18 Furthermore, views of the new houses from the existing properties would be primarily 

the gable ends of the dwellings or their parking areas only, leading to the conclusion 
that any loss of privacy through overlooking would be marginal. 

  
7.19 It is therefore considered that the relationship between the existing dwellings along 

Woodville Road and the new dwellings proposed as part of this development would be 
acceptable as only minor harm to neighbour’s amenity would occur in terms of 
dominance, visual intrusion and loss of privacy/overlooking. The proposal would 
therefore accord with Policies 2 and 3 of the SELLP. 

 
Highway safety and car parking 
 

7.20 The main vehicular access into the site along with the estate roads would be built to 
adoptable standards and, once completed, the road network will be adopted by the 
Local Highways Authority. 

 
7.21 No objections have been raised by the Local Highway Authority subject to a number of 

conditions. It should be noted that no vehicular access from the development is 
proposed onto Woodside Road and this is to be conditioned accordingly.  
 

Page 72



 

 

7.22 Policy 36 ‘Vehicle and Cycle Parking’ provides minimum parking standards for various 
types of development. Annex 6 of the SELLP provides details on the level of car parking 
and cycle parking expected within new residential developments. It indicates that two 
parking spaces should be provided to serve properties of up to three bedrooms and 
that a garage can count as one space if it has an internal dimensions of 2.6m by 5.6m 
with an additional 1m at its end to park cycles.  

 
7.23 All dwellings appear to have adhered to the minimum parking levels set out in Annex 

6, apart from plot 106 and 244. These two dwellings are 4-bed properties and should 
ideally require three parking spaces for each of these dwellings and both only offer two 
spaces per dwelling. This minor failing is considered to have minimal adverse effect in 
the overall context of the scheme. The overall level of parking offered throughout the 
scheme and its layout is considered, on balance, acceptable and is generally in 
accordance with Policy 36 of the SELLP and associated Annex 6. 
 

 Developer contributions  
 

7.24  Policy 6 ‘Developer Contributions’ of the SELLP sets out the obligations for major 
developments that may be required to mitigate impacts of new development on local 
services and infrastructure, and Policy 18 ‘Affordable Housing’ sets out the trigger 
points and levels of affordable housing that would normally be expected for such 
developments. 
 

7.25  28 of the 139 dwellings are proposed to be affordable units in the form of: 
 
Rented: 
 
 4 no. 1-bed houses 
 10 no. 2-bed houses 
 4 no. 3-bed houses 
 2 no. 4-bed houses 

 
Shared ownership: 
 
 3no. 2-bed houses 
 5no. 3-bed houses 
 

7.26  This equates to 28 affordable homes on the site (20%) and thus would meet the 
requirements of Policy 18. The mix and tenures have also been discussed with the 
Councils Housing section who are in agreement with the proposals. 
 

7.27  A request has also been made by Lincolnshire Education Services for a financial 
contribution of £430,531 towards one additional general teaching classroom at 
Thomas Middlecott Secondary School and a new sports hall at Boston Grammar School. 
This request has been justified and would be included within the S106 legal agreement. 
 

7.28  In respect of a contribution towards health provision, NHS England have confirmed 
they do not request any contribution for this scheme. 

 

Page 73



 

 

7.29 Subject to a Legal Agreement which satisfactorily covers the above being concluded 
the scheme would accord with policies 6 and 18 of the SELLP. 
 
Flood Risk and drainage 
 

7.30 The application site is located within flood zone 3 of the Environment Agency’s flood 
zone maps and according the EA flood hazard maps (1 in 200 year) it is in a ‘danger for 
some’ area.  

 
7.31 The application is accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment and the Environment 

Agency has been consulted. Their response is one of no objections subject to a 
condition ensuring that the development proceeds in accordance with mitigation 
measures outlined in the FRA including that finished floor levels shall not be set lower 
than 500mm above existing ground level and that all dwellings shall be a minimum of 
two storeys. A further condition is attached requesting details of the foul drainage 
scheme that is required to be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority.  
 

7.32 Advice provided by Anglian Water Services and Black Sluice IDB for the developers 
should also accompany any forthcoming approval for this development.  

 
7.33 Based on the above assessment it is considered that, subject to conditions, the 

proposal would accord with Policy 4 of the SELLP and the intentions of Section 14 
‘Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change’ of the NPPF. 

 
 Ecology and wildlife 
 
7.34 As part of the proposal the applicants have submitted an extended Phase I ecological 

survey the results of which did not find any species or habitats that would warrant 
further surveys to be carried out. However, recommendations were made within the 
report and it is good practice to ensure that the development is carried out in 
accordance with the reports recommendations. It is therefore considered that a 
condition should be attached to ensure compliance with these recommendations. 
 
Other matters 
 

7.35 Policy 30 ‘Pollution’ and 31 ‘Climate change and renewable and low carbon energy’ of 
the SELLP set out a range of measure that developers would normally be expected to 
comply with such as electric charging points, energy efficient boilers and the need to 
comply with water efficiency standards. These measure aim to help reduce the carbon 
footprint of developments making them more sustainable in line with the guidance 
contained in the NPPF. This development would be a modern development, designed 
to provide a high quality scheme meeting the expectations of future residents and 
building regulations. With regard to the imposition of further measures it is considered 
that this can be sufficiently dealt with by the way of planning conditions requiring the 
submission of further details. 
 
 
 

Page 74



 

 

Planning Conditions 
 

7.36 In addition to the standard conditions which limits the life span of the planning 
permission and lists the approved plans, conditions are recommended which relate to 
drainage and flood risk, highway works, archaeology, ecology and a construction 
management plan.  

 
7.37 In order to protect the site and neighbouring land from flooding and in the interests of 

flood risk, conditions are recommended that require the submission for approval of a 
satisfactory drainage system and that the development is carried out in accordance 
with the submitted flood risk assessment. 

 
7.38  It is also recommended that a condition is imposed that requires the submission of 

samples of the materials to be used in the construction of the development to ensure 
that the buildings satisfactorily assimilates within the area.  
 

7.39  Compliance conditions are also imposed to ensure that landscaping proposals are 
carried out and that the mitigation measures set out in the ecological survey are 
adhered to. 
 

7.40   A construction management plan also requires the submission of details of where 
construction materials will be stored, the siting of welfare facilities, working hours etc. 
in order to protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby dwellings during the 
construction of the development. 
 

8.0 Planning Balance 
 
8.1  Section 38(6) of the Act requires that proposals are determined in accordance with the 

development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. It is well-defined 
in case law that the development plan (in this case the SELLP) should be taken as a 
whole and it is for the decision-maker to weigh up compliance/lack of compliance with 
policies of the development plan, along with all relevant material considerations. The 
weight attributed to each of these factors within this exercise is known as the ‘planning 
balance’.  
 

8.2 This site is allocated in the SELLP for housing (ref: Kir041) and within the settlement 
boundary of Kirton. Therefore, the principle of residential development on this site is 
not disputed. It therefore accords with policies 1, 10 and 11 of the SELLP. The scheme 
would make a significant contribution to boosting the supply of housing within the 
Borough, and would also contribute towards the delivery of Affordable Housing. These 
are significant, positive benefits arising from the scheme.  
 

8.3 The layout of the development appears well thought out with numerous house-types 
using differing materials with the overall scheme being unlikely to cause undue harm 
to the general character and appearance of the area. The proposed dwellings appear 
to have suitably sized gardens and good levels of parking and the scheme would 
provide a quality living environment for future occupiers of the dwellings. The scheme 
would result in the loss of agricultural land, and visual change to the area, however 
these effects are considered to be minor in nature given that the land has been 

Page 75



 

 

previously found as being acceptable for development by virtue of its allocation, and 
that the scheme would appropriately assimilate into the existing spatial character of 
the area. As such, the proposals therefore comply with policies 2, and 3 of the SELLP. 

 
8.4 The environmental impacts of this development in relation to impact on heritage 

assets, flood risk, wildlife/ecology and general sustainability are considered to be 
acceptable and can be appropriately mitigated through the imposition of 
recommended conditions. Therefore the scheme would comply with policies 2, 3, 4, 
28, 29, 30 and 31 of the SELLP. 

 
8.5  The proposal would also include for provision of 28 affordable homes and a financial 

contribution towards a classroom at Thomas Middlecott Primary School and a sports 
hall at Boston Grammar School in order to mitigate the impacts of the development. 
These contributions are justified and are to be secured by a S106 legal agreement. The 
scheme would therefore accord with policies 6, 18, and 32 of the SELLP. 

 
8.6  To conclude, when taken as a whole, it is Officers opinion that the scheme would be 

acceptable in the planning balance, subject to the completion of the necessary legal 
agreement and subject to the imposition of the conditions as recommended.  

 
9.0 Summary and Conclusion 
 
9.1 The proposal would result in the development of existing agricultural land for 

residential purposes. The scheme would provide a substantial contribution to the 
housing supply within the Borough and would provide for a high quality housing 
scheme which is in accordance with the policies of the development plan. The site is 
suitable for residential development and the primary issues in the determination of the 
application have been fully assessed as identified above and found to be acceptable or 
would be acceptable subject to the imposition of the conditions recommended and the 
conclusion of the associated S106 agreement.  It is therefore recommended that the 
application is supported. 

 
10.0     Recommendation 

 
10.1 It is recommended that Committee RESOLVE TO GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION 

subject to the following conditions and the completion of the section 106 agreement 
relating to affordable housing and contributions towards education as detailed in the 
report 

 
 CONDITIONS AND INFORMATIVES 
 
1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 

from the date of this permission. 
 

Reason:  Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 

2 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 

Page 76



 

 

 
 Ref: 1197/LP/SP – ‘Location Plan - Southern Phase’ 
 Ref: 90A-PL-01 Rev D – ‘Planning Layout - Southern Phase’ 
 Ref: 90A-HOL-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Holland’ 
 Ref: 90A-DEE-01 – ‘Design Sheet - Dee’ 
 Ref: 90A-EDN-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Eden’ 
 Ref: 90A AV-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Avon’ 
 Ref: 90A-CLY-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Clyde’ 
 Ref: 90A-SPAR-01 – ‘Design Sheet - Sparta’ 
 Ref: 90A-CORO-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Coronation’ 
 Ref: 90A-CORO-002 – ‘Design Sheet - Coronation’ 
 Ref: 90A-LCK-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Lock’ 
 Ref: 90A-MER-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Mere’ 
 Ref: 90A-MER-002 – ‘Design Sheet - Mere’ 
 Ref: 90A-NENE-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Nene’ 
 Ref: 90A-BAL-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Balmoral’ 
 Ref: 90A-BAL-002 – ‘Design Sheet - Balmoral’ 
 Ref: 90A-RIBB-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Ribble’ 
 Ref: 90A-HUM-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Humber’ 
 Ref: 90A-HUM-002 – ‘Design Sheet - Humber’ 
 Ref: 90A-A516-001 – ‘Design Sheet - A516’ 
 Ref: 90A-A516-002 – ‘Design Sheet - A516’ 
 Ref: 90A-A732-001 – ‘Design Sheet - A732’ 
 Ref: 90A-A902-001 – ‘Design Sheet - A902’ 
 Ref: 90A-A1336-001 – ‘Design Sheet - A1336’ 
 Ref: 1197/LA1 Rev A – ‘Landscape Proposals - Sheet 1 of 11’ 
 Ref: 1197/LA1 Rev A – ‘Landscape Proposals - Sheet 2 of 11’ 
 Ref: 1197/LA1 Rev A – ‘Landscape Proposals - Sheet 3 of 11’ 
 Ref: 1197/LA1 Rev A – ‘Landscape Proposals - Sheet 4 of 11’ 
 Ref: 1197/LA1 Rev B – ‘Landscape Proposals - Sheet 5 of 11’ 
 Ref: 1197/LA1 Rev B – ‘Landscape Proposals - Sheet 7 of 11’ 
 Ref: 90A-SG-01 – ‘Design Sheet - Single Garage’ 
 Ref: 90A-DG-01 – ‘Design Sheet - Double Garage’ 
 Ref: 90A-DSG-01 – ‘Design Sheet - Double Shared Garage’ 
 Ref: 90A-TSG-01 – ‘design Sheet - Triple Shared Garage’ 

 
And read in conjunction with the various recommendations of the supporting 
documents which accompany the application unless varied by other conditions 
attached to and forming part of this decision. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with approved 
plans in accordance with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 
(2011-2036) 

 
3. The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in 

accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) dated August 2018, 
referenced MA11011-FRA-R01 by Millward, including the following mitigation 
measures detailed within the FRA: 

 

Page 77



 

 

 Finished floor levels to be set no lower than 500mm above existing ground  
Level 

 All dwellings to have at least two storeys  
 

The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and 
subsequently remain in place. 

  
Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future 
occupants and to accord with Policies 2, 3, 4 and 31 of the South East Lincolnshire Local 
Plan (2011-2036) and the intentions of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 

 
 4.       Prior to the construction of any building above damp proof course, a detailed scheme 

for drainage and water infrastructure shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The details shall include: 

 
    a scheme for the provision of mains foul sewage infrastructure on and off  
      site 
    details of connection point(s) and discharge rate(s) 
 

Prior to the occupation of any dwelling within any phase of the development, the 
drainage and water infrastructure measures relating to that phase and dwelling must 
have been carried out in complete accordance with the approved scheme.  

 
Reason: To prevent environmental and amenity problems arising from flooding and to 
accord with Policies 2, 3 , 4 and 31 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) 
and the intention of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019) 

    
 5. The water consumption of each dwelling hereby permitted should not exceed the 

requirement of 110 litres per person per day (as set out as the optional requirement in 
Part G of the Building Regulations 2010 and the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan, 
2019).  

 
The person carrying out the work must inform the Building Control Body that this duty 
applies.  
 
A notice confirming the requirement for the water consumption has been met shall be 
submitted to the Building Control Body and Local Planning Authority, no later than five 
days after the completion of each individual dwelling. 

 
Reason: To protect the quality and quantity of water resources available to the district. 
This condition is imposed in accordance with Policy 31 of the South East Lincolnshire 
Local Plan (2011-0236). 

 
6. No development shall take place above ground level until details of the materials 

proposed to be used in the construction of the external surfaces have been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

 
 Reason: No details of materials have been submitted, these details are required in the 

Page 78



 

 

interests of the amenity of the area and to ensure that the new buildings are in keeping 
with the character of the area to accord with the objectives of Policies 2 and 3 of the 
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) and the intentions of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2019). 

 
7.      All landscape works relating to each completed part of the development shall be carried 

out in accordance with the approved details within 6 months of the completion of that 
part of the development. Any trees, plants, grassed areas which within a period of 5 
years from the date of planting die, are removed or become seriously damaged or 
diseased shall be replaced in the first available planting season with others of similar size 
species or quality. 

 
Reason:  In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure an effective landscaping 
scheme is delivered, including planting of trees, and to ensure that the approved scheme 
is implemented satisfactorily, in accordance with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East 
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

  
 8. Prior to the commencement of any part of the development above slab level, details 

shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority for the provision of 
three (3) fire hydrants or other acceptable alternative along with a timetable for their 
installation relative to the phasing of the development. The fire hydrants (or other 
acceptable alternative) shall be installed at the relevant point of development in 
accordance with the agreed timetable.  

 
Reason: To enable the protection and maintenance of the development and to accord 
with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 
 9. No development shall take place until the applicant has secured a programme of 

archaeological work, which shall include trial trenching, in accordance with a written 
scheme of investigation which has been subitted by the applicant and approved in writin 
by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: In order to ensure that satisfactory arrangements have been made for the 
investigation, retrieval and recording of any possible archaeological remains on the site 
and to accord with Policies 2, 3 and 29 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-
2036) and the intentions of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 

 
 10. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

recommendations contained within the submitted Phase I Ecology Survey prepared by 
Hillier Ecology Limited. 

 
Reason: To ensure that protected species and their habitats are protected and to 
provide enhancements to biodiversity in accordance with Policies 2, 3 and 28 of the 
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 
 11. Prior to the commencement of development above slab level, final details of measures 

that aim to reduce pollution and promote renewable and low carbon energy (including 
measures such as facilities for EV car charging) and details relating to the timing of their 
implementation, shall be submitted to and approved in writing with the Local Planning 

Page 79



 

 

Authority. The development shall be constructed in accordance with the approved 
measures. 

 
Reason: To help reduce pollution and promote renewable and low carbon energy in new 
development schemes and to accord with Policies 2, 3 , 30 and 31 of the South east 
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) and to accord with the intentions of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2019). 

 
 12. Before each dwelling is occupied, the roads and footways providing access to that 

dwelling, for the whole of its frontage from an existing public highway, shall be 
constructed to a specification to enable them to be adopted as Public Highway, less the 
carriageway and footway surface courses. The carriageway and footway surface courses 
shall be completed within three months from the date upon which the erection is 
commenced of the penultimate dwelling. 

 
Reason: To ensure that a safe and suitable standard of vehicular and pedestrian access 
is provided for residents throughout the construction period of the development and 
that the roads and footways are completed within a reasonable period following 
completion of the dwellings. This condition accords with Policies 2 and 3 of the South 
East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 
 13. No dwelling shall be commenced before the first 60 metres of estate road from its 

junction with the public highway, including visibility splays, have been completed to 
Binder Course level. 

 
Reason: To ensure construction and delivery vehicles, and the vehicles of site personnel 
may be parked and/or unloaded off the existing highway, in the interests of highway 
safety and the amenity of neighbouring residents and to accord with Policies 2 and 3 of 
the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 
 14. Before any dwelling is occupied, all of that part of the estate road and associated 

footways that forms the junction with the main road and which will be constructed 
within the limits of the existing highway, shall be laid out and constructed to finished 
surface levels in accordance with details to be submitted to, and approved in writing by, 
the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: In the interests of safety, to avoid the creation of pedestrian trip hazards within 
the public highway from surfacing materials, manholes and gullies that may otherwise 
remain for an extended period at dissimilar, interim construction levels. This condition 
accords with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 
 15. There shall be no vehicular access to the permitted development from Woodside Road. 

Effective measures, both physical and contractual, shall incorporated into the 
development to prevent any such access being formed at any time. 

 
Reason: Woodside Road is unsuitable, in terms of its carriageway width and 
construction standard and the absence of footways, to be able to accommodate 
additional vehicle movements from a residential development of the scale hereby 

Page 80



 

 

permitted. This condition accords with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire 
Local Plan (2011-2036).  

 
 16. Prior to the commencement of the development above ground level, a Construction 

Management Plan shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in 
writing. The Construction Management Plan will prescribe how the construction of the 
site will be phased, where site accommodation and welfare facilities will be placed, 
hours of working, where site vehicles and the vehicles of site personnel will be parked 
and where materials will be delivered and stored within the site. Construction of the 
permitted development shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved 
Construction Management Plan. 

 
         Reason:  In the interests of the safety and free passage of the public, in the interests of 

residential amenity and to accord with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire 
Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 
 
 
 
Mike Gildersleeves 
Growth Manager 
 

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee 
17 September 2019 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 17 SEPTEMBER 2019 

Present: 

Chairman: Councillor Tom Ashton 

Vice-Chairman: Councillor Frank Pickett 

Councillors: Alison Austin, Peter Bedford, Paul Goodale, Jonathan Noble, Brian 
Rush, Chelcei Sharman, Paul Skinner, 
Yvonne Stevens, Peter Watson and Stephen Woodliffe 

Officers: Growth Manager, Legal Officer Planning, Senior Planning Officer 
and Democratic Services Officer 

38 PLANNING APPLICATION B 19 0040 

Residential development consisting of 139 dwellings, including associated roads, 
public open space and drainage infrastructures. 

Land off London Road Kirton Boston 

Ashwood Homes. 

The Senior Planning Officer presented the report to the committee and confirmed 
there were no updates to the report tabled within the agenda. 

No representation was received within respect of this application. 

General positive committee comments included recognition that Phase 1 of the 
development was already under construction; that the allocation of 20% affordable 
housing was welcome and that the site and the mixture of housing was well laid out. 
Members acknowledge it was an allocated site with the SELLP and that there had been 
no objections from any of the statutory consultees nor from the Parish Council. 

Concerns were raised at the impact of continued development within the village of 
Kirton and in particular on the existing infrastructure. Further concern noted no 
allocation for play equipment in what would be a family based development. Although 
the Section 
106 contributions were welcome members did question the split in allocation of the 
funding with a presumption that whilst the majority of monies would be allocated to 
the Grammar School when they felt it should be allocated to the Local School. 

The Growth Manager provided two points of information in respect of the concerns 
noted: 

Policy 32 of the plan provides the policy basis for consideration of open space matters, 

Page 83



Planning Committee 
17 September 2019 

and is to be supplemented by a Supplementary Planning Document in due course. In 
relation to the application, the proposals were considered to be in accordance with the 
policy, open space would be provided but this would not be required to be equipped. 

Some members made comments about where the education contributions were 
identified to be spent, and identified a desire for funds to be spent locally. The Growth 
Manager clarified that  

Section 106 requests for Education are based on a calculation undertaken by the 
Education Authority. This is based upon the impact of the development and what 
additional capacity is required over primary, secondary and sixth form pupils. The 
monies would then be collated, and released as required to deliver those capacity 
enhancements. 

It was moved by Councillor Jonathan Noble and seconded by Councillor Paul Skinner 
that the application be granted in line with officer recommendation subject to the 
conditions and reasons therein: 

Vote: In Favour. 10. Against. 0. Abstention. 1. 

RESOLVED: That committee resolve to grant planning permission subject to: 

1. The completion of the section 106 agreement relating to affordable housing
and contributions towards education as detailed within the report.

2. The conditions and reasons as follows:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 

three years from the date of this permission.

Reason Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans:

 Ref: 1197/LP/SP – ‘Location Plan - Southern Phase’
 Ref: 90A-PL-01 Rev D – ‘Planning Layout - Southern Phase’
 Ref: 90A-HOL-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Holland’
 Ref: 90A-DEE-01 – ‘Design Sheet - Dee’
 Ref: 90A-EDN-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Eden’
 Ref: 90A AV-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Avon’
 Ref: 90A-CLY-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Clyde’
 Ref: 90A-SPAR-01 – ‘Design Sheet - Sparta’
 Ref: 90A-CORO-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Coronation’
 Ref: 90A-CORO-002 – ‘Design Sheet - Coronation’
 Ref: 90A-LCK-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Lock’ 

Page 84



Planning Committee 
17 September 2019 

 Ref: 90A-MER-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Mere’
 Ref: 90A-MER-002 – ‘Design Sheet - Mere’
 Ref: 90A-NENE-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Nene’
 Ref: 90A-BAL-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Balmoral’
 Ref: 90A-BAL-002 – ‘Design Sheet - Balmoral’
 Ref: 90A-RIBB-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Ribble’
 Ref: 90A-HUM-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Humber’
 Ref: 90A-HUM-002 – ‘Design Sheet - Humber’
 Ref: 90A-A516-001 – ‘Design Sheet - A516’
 Ref: 90A-A516-002 – ‘Design Sheet - A516’
 Ref: 90A-A732-001 – ‘Design Sheet - A732’
 Ref: 90A-A902-001 – ‘Design Sheet - A902’
 Ref: 90A-A1336-001 – ‘Design Sheet - A1336’
 Ref: 1197/LA1 Rev A – ‘Landscape Proposals - Sheet 1 of 11’
 Ref: 1197/LA1 Rev A – ‘Landscape Proposals - Sheet 2 of 11’
 Ref: 1197/LA1 Rev A – ‘Landscape Proposals - Sheet 3 of 11’
 Ref: 1197/LA1 Rev A – ‘Landscape Proposals - Sheet 4 of 11’
 Ref: 1197/LA1 Rev B – ‘Landscape Proposals - Sheet 5 of 11’
 Ref: 1197/LA1 Rev B – ‘Landscape Proposals - Sheet 7 of 11’
 Ref: 90A-SG-01 – ‘Design Sheet - Single Garage’
 Ref: 90A-DG-01 – ‘Design Sheet - Double Garage’
 Ref: 90A-DSG-01 – ‘Design Sheet - Double Shared Garage’
 Ref: 90A-TSG-01 – ‘design Sheet - Triple Shared Garage’

And read in conjunction with the various recommendations of the supporting 
documents which accompany the application unless varied by other conditions 
attached to and forming part of this decision. 

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with 
approved plans in accordance with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East 
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) 

3. The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out
in accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) dated August
2018,

referenced MA11011-FRA-R01 by Millward, including the following
mitigation measures detailed within the FRA:

 Finished floor levels to be set no lower than 500mm above existing
ground level

 All dwellings to have at least two storeys

The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to 
occupation and subsequently remain in place. 

Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future 
occupants and to accord with Policies 2, 3, 4 and 31 of the South East 

Page 85



Planning Committee 
17 September 2019 

Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) and the intentions of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2019). 

4. Prior to the construction of any building above damp proof course, a detailed
scheme for drainage and water infrastructure shall be submitted to and agreed
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall include:

 a scheme for the provision of mains foul sewage infrastructure on and off site
 details of connection point(s) and discharge rate(s)

Prior to the occupation of any dwelling within any phase of the development, 
the drainage and water infrastructure measures relating to that phase and 
dwelling must have been carried out in complete accordance with the approved 
scheme. 

Reason: To prevent environmental and amenity problems arising from flooding 
and to accord with Policies 2, 3 , 4 and 31 of the South East Lincolnshire Local 
Plan (2011-2036) and the intention of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2019) 

5. The water consumption of each dwelling hereby permitted should not exceed
the requirement of 110 litres per person per day (as set out as the optional
requirement in Part G of the Building Regulations 2010 and the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan, 2019).

The person carrying out the work must inform the Building Control Body that
this duty applies.

A notice confirming the requirement for the water consumption has been met
shall be submitted to the Building Control Body and Local Planning Authority, no
later than five days after the completion of each individual dwelling.

Reason: To protect the quality and quantity of water resources available to the
district. This condition is imposed in accordance with Policy 31 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-0236).

6. No development shall take place above ground level until details of the materials
proposed to be used in the construction of the external surfaces have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: No details of materials have been submitted, these details are required
in the interests of the amenity of the area and to ensure that the new buildings
are in keeping with the character of the area to accord with the objectives of
Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) and the
intentions of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

Page 86



Planning Committee 
17 September 2019 

7. All landscape works relating to each completed part of the development shall be
carried out in accordance with the approved details within 6 months of the
completion of that part of the development. Any trees, plants, grassed areas
which within a period of 5 years from the date of planting die, are removed or
become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the first available
planting season with others of similar size species or quality.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure an effective landscaping
scheme is delivered, including planting of trees, and to ensure that the approved
scheme is implemented satisfactorily, in accordance with Policies 2 and 3 of the
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

8. Prior to the commencement of any part of the development above slab level,
details shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority for
the provision of three (3) fire hydrants or other acceptable alternative along with
a timetable for their installation relative to the phasing of the development. The
fire hydrants (or other acceptable alternative) shall be installed at the relevant
point of development in accordance with the agreed timetable.

Reason: To enable the protection and maintenance of the development and to
accord with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

9. No development shall take place until the applicant has secured a programme of
archaeological work, which shall include trial trenching, in accordance with a
written scheme of investigation which has been submitted by the applicant and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In order to ensure that satisfactory arrangements have been made for
the investigation, retrieval and recording of any possible archaeological remains
on the site and to accord with Policies 2, 3 and 29 of the South East Lincolnshire
Local Plan (2011-2036) and the intentions of the National Planning Policy
Framework (2019).

10. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the
recommendations contained within the submitted Phase I Ecology Survey
prepared by Hillier Ecology Limited.

Reason: To ensure that protected species and their habitats are protected and to
provide enhancements to biodiversity in accordance with Policies 2, 3 and 28 of
the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

11. Prior to the commencement of development above slab level, final details of
measures that aim to reduce pollution and promote renewable and low carbon
energy (including measures such as facilities for EV car charging) and details

relating to the timing of their implementation, shall be submitted to and
approved in writing with the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be
constructed in accordance with the approved measures.

Page 87



Planning Committee 
17 September 2019 

Reason: To help reduce pollution and promote renewable and low carbon energy 
in new development schemes and to accord with Policies 2, 3 , 30 and 31 of the 
South east Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) and to accord with the intentions 
of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 

12. Before each dwelling is occupied, the roads and footways providing access to that
dwelling, for the whole of its frontage from an existing public highway, shall be
constructed to a specification to enable them to be adopted as Public Highway,
less the carriageway and footway surface courses. The carriageway and footway
surface courses shall be completed within three months from the date upon
which the erection is commenced of the penultimate dwelling.

Reason: To ensure that a safe and suitable standard of vehicular and pedestrian 
access is provided for residents throughout the construction period of the 
development and that the roads and footways are completed within a 
reasonable period following completion of the dwellings. This condition accords 
with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

13. No dwelling shall be commenced before the first 60 metres of estate road from
its junction with the public highway, including visibility splays, have been
completed to Binder Course level.

Reason: To ensure construction and delivery vehicles, and the vehicles of site 
personnel may be parked and/or unloaded off the existing highway, in the 
interests of highway safety and the amenity of neighbouring residents and to 
accord with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

14. Before any dwelling is occupied, all of that part of the estate road and associated
footways that forms the junction with the main road and which will be
constructed within the limits of the existing highway, shall be laid out and
constructed to finished surface levels in accordance with details to be submitted
to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of safety, to avoid the creation of pedestrian trip hazards 
within the public highway from surfacing materials, manholes and gullies that 
may otherwise remain for an extended period at dissimilar, interim construction 
levels. This condition accords with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire 
Local Plan (2011-2036). 

15. There shall be no vehicular access to the permitted development from Woodside
Road. Effective measures, both physical and contractual, shall incorporated into
the development to prevent any such access being formed at any time.

Reason: Woodside Road is unsuitable, in terms of its carriageway width and 
construction standard and the absence of footways, to be able to accommodate 
additional vehicle movements from a residential development of the scale 

Page 88



Planning Committee 
17 September 2019 

hereby permitted. This condition accords with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East 
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

16. Prior to the commencement of the development above ground level, a
Construction Management Plan shall be submitted to the Local Planning
Authority for approval in writing. The Construction Management Plan will
prescribe how the construction of the site will be phased, where site
accommodation and welfare facilities will be placed, hours of working, where site
vehicles and the vehicles of site personnel will be parked and where materials
will be delivered and stored within the site. Construction of the permitted
development shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved Construction
Management Plan.

Reason: In the interests of the safety and free passage of the public, in the 
interests of residential amenity and to accord with Policies 2 and 3 of the South 
East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

It is recorded that Councillor Stephen Woodliffe re-joined the meeting at this point 
in the proceedings and that Councillor Peter Watson absented from the meeting. 

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	B MINUTES
	1 PLANNING APPLICATION B 21 0091
	Report Planning Application B 21 0091

	2 PLANNING APPLICATION B 16 0380 CD1
	Report Planning Application B 16 0380 CD1

	3 PLANNING APPLICATION B 19 0040
	Report Planning Application B 01 0040
	Appendix 1. Planning Committee report from 17.09.2019
	Appendix 2.  Planning Committee Minutes from 17.09.2019




